
 

 

 

 

Meeting: EAP Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 

Date: Monday 1st November, 2021 

Time: 9.30 am 

Venue: Committee Room, Municipal Offices, Bowling Green Road, Kettering, 
NN15 7QX  

 
To members of the EAP Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 
 
Councillors Councillor Lloyd Bunday (Chair), Jean Addison, Annabel de Capell Brooke, 
Kirk Harrison, Bert Jackson, Ian Jelley and Richard Levell 
 

Agenda 

 

Item Subject Presenting 
Officer 

Page no. 

01   Apologies for absence 
 

  

02   Members' Declarations of Interest 
 

  

03   Minutes of the Meeting Held on 27th September 
2021 

 5 - 8 

04   Notification of requests to address the meeting 
 

  

Items for Discussion 

05   Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

Samantha 
Edmunds / 
Samantha 
Diamond 

 

9 - 48 

06   Dry Waste Recycling Contract Graeme Kane 

 
49 - 52 

07   Waste, Recycling and Street Cleansing Policies Graeme Kane 

 
53 - 94 

08   Procurement of Catering Services at Corby East 
Midlands International Pool 
 

Kerry Purnell 95 - 110 

09   Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman 
Annual Report 2020-21 
 

Geoff Kent 111 - 118 

010   Extension to Wood Waste Contract - EXEMPT Graeme Kane 

 
119 - 126 

011   Executive Forward Plan and Panel Work 
Programme 

Lisa Hyde 127 - 140 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 

 
This agenda has been published by Democratic Services. 
Committee Administrator: David Pope 
01536 535661 
david.pope@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 
 
Members’ Declarations of Interest 
 
Members are reminded of their duty to ensure they abide by the approved Member Code 
of Conduct whilst undertaking their role as a Councillor.  Where a matter arises at a 
meeting which relates to a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, you must declare the interest, 
not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must not remain in the room 
unless granted a dispensation. 
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to other Registerable Interests, you 
must declare the interest.  You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are 
also allowed to speak at the meeting but must not take part in any vote on the matter 
unless you have been granted a dispensation. 
 
Where a matter arises at a meeting which relates to your own financial interest (and is not 
a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest) or relates to a financial interest of a relative, friend or 
close associate, you must disclose the interest and not vote on the matter unless granted 
a dispensation.  You may speak on the matter only if members of the public are also 
allowed to speak at the meeting. 
 
Members are reminded that they should continue to adhere to the Council’s approved 
rules and protocols during the conduct of meetings.  These are contained in the Council’s 
approved Constitution. 
 
If Members have any queries as to whether a Declaration of Interest should be made 
please contact the Monitoring Officer at –  monitoringofficer@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 
Press & Media Enquiries 
 
Any press or media enquiries should be directed through the Council’s Communications 
Team to NNU-Comms-Team@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 
Public Enquiries 
 
Public enquiries regarding the Authority’s meetings can be made to 
democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 

Page 2

mailto:monitoringofficer@northnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk


 

 
 

 
Minutes of a meeting of the EAP Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 
 
At 9.30 am on Monday 27th September, 2021 in the Council Chamber, Municipal 
Offices, Bowling Green Road, Kettering, NN15 7QX 
 
Present:- 
 
Members 
 
Councillor Lloyd Bunday (Chair)  
Councillor Jean Addison 
Councillor Bert Jackson 
 

Councillor Ian Jelley 
Councillor Richard Levell 
 

Officers 
 
Geoff Kent – Assistant Director Customer Services 
Graeme Kane – Assistant Director Highways and Waste 
David Pope – Senior Committee Administrator 
 

 
 

 
27 Apologies for absence  

 
Apologies for absence were received from Cllr Kirk Harrison and Lisa Hyde, Director 
of Transformation. 
 
 

28 Members' Declarations of Interest  
 
No declarations were received. 
 
 

29 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 2nd September 2021  
 
RESOLVED that: The Service Delivery, Performance and Customers Executive 
Advisory Panel agreed the minutes of the meeting held on 2nd September 2021 as a 
true and accurate record of the meeting. 
 
 

30 Notification of requests to address the meeting  
 
None. 
 
 

31 Modern Public Services - The Corporate Plan  
 
The panel received for review and further comment relevant sections of the draft 
Corporate Plan following feedback provided by members at the previous meeting of 
the panel. 
 

Public Document Pack

Page 1Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Members considered that elements of the Corporate Plan relating to the operation of 
an open and honest culture within the authority and the drive to learn from complaints 
should be reinforced. 
 
In response to a question regarding Community Hubs, it was heard that customer 
service provision in the Council’s libraries was currently being resourced with a view to 
becoming operational by the end of the calendar year. 
 
Members raised further queries in relation to the following: 
 

 The current position of Kettering Futures Partnership 
 

 Better signposting was required for members as to who to contact with issues 
that required resolution, with a request made for a refresh of contact details for 
relevant officers 

 

 And additional bullet point referencing how support would be provided to 
customers who were unable to access online services 

 

 Departmental contact numbers for the public 
 
 

32 Future of Wellingborough Norse – Options Appraisal  
 
Members received a presentation that provided an overview of the options for the 
future delivery of street scene services currently delivered by Wellingborough Norse. 
 
It was heard that the Borough Council of Wellingborough had created a joint venture 
with Norse approximately 10 years previously for the provision of a wide range of 
street scene services including waste management, street cleaning and grounds 
maintenance. This service agreement was set to expire at the end of March 2022 and 
the presentation sought to outline a number of potential options for continued delivery 
of services. The differing arrangements for service provision across the remainder of 
North Northamptonshire were detailed as follows: 
 

 Corby and Kettering operated in-house services 

 East Northants operated two separate external contracts; Waste & Street 
Cleansing to August 2025 and Grounds Maintenance to November 2022 

 
Members commented on the variation between street scene services offered across 
North Northamptonshire as a result of the differing operating models outlined above 
and referenced the operation of certain services by town and parish councils in East 
Northants. 
 
Members received a range of potential options for the continuation of services 
following the cessation of the current Wellingborough Norse contract in March 2022. 
Members asked a number of questions in relation to current service operation, 
financial implications and timing considerations. 
 
 

33 Executive Forward Plan and Panel Work Programme  
 
Members received the Executive Forward Plan and the work programme for the panel 
and noted upcoming items for both. 

Page 2Page 4



 
It was requested that the NNC Transformation Plan item scheduled to go to Executive 
on 16th December be brought to a November meeting of the panel. 
 
 
 

___________________________________ 
Chair 

 
___________________________________ 

Date 
 
 
 
The meeting closed at 10.47 am 
 

Page 3Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



                                    

 

 
 
 

Executive Advisory Panel 
Service Delivery, Performance and Customers  

 
1st November 2021 

 

 

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
Appendix B – Food & Feed Standards Service Plan 2021-23 
Appendix C – Food Work Plan 2021-22 
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1. To seek feedback on the Food Safety and Food and Feed Standards Service 

Plans for 2021-23 to inform Executive decision making at its meeting of 18th 
November 2021. 
 
 

2. Information 

 
2.1 Under the Food Safety Act 1990 local authorities are required to publish Food 

and Feed Service plans. 
 

2.2 The plans detail how the service intend to deliver, monitor and improve food and 
feed services. 

 
 
3. Recommendations 

 
3.1 It is recommended that the Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 

Executive Advisory Panel:  
 

Report Title 
 

Food Safety and Food and Feed Standards Service Plan 
2021-23 
 

Report Author Iain Smith, Assistant Director – Regulatory Services 
Iain.Smith@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 

Executive Member Executive Member for Growth and Regeneration – Cllr David 
Brackenbury 
 

Item no: 

5 
  
 
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 5



a) Considers the Food Safety and Food and Feed Standards Service Plans 
2021-23 that will be presented to the Executive on the 18th November 2021; 
and  
 

b) Provides feedback to the Executive to inform their decision making at its 
meeting on 18th November 2021 

 
 
4. Report Background 

 
4.1 This report presents the inaugural North Northamptonshire Food Safety and 

Food and Feed Service plans.  The plan details how the Councils Regulatory 
Services intends to deliver, monitor and improve its food and feed services. 
 

4.2 Under the Food Safety Act 1990 local authorities are required to publish Food 
and Feed Service plans. 
 

4.3 Under the Local Government Act 2000, powers relating to the Food Safety Act 
1990 lie with the Executive. 

 
 
5. Issues and Choices 

 
5.1 The Food Standards Agency provide service planning direction to local 

authorities by means of Food and Feed Law codes of practice and the 
Framework Agreement on Official Feed and Food Controls.  The Food 
Standards Agency sought government approval early in the Covid-19 pandemic 
to depart from the codes of practice and have consequently directed local 
authorities to balance high risk food and feed matters against the Covid-19 
response.  They have recently issued the ‘Recovery Roadmap’ to address the 
backlog of inspections due to the pandemic which is accounted for in the plans. 
 

5.2 The Framework Agreement on Official Feed and Food Controls by Local 
Authorities states that Authorities have the flexibility to decide whether service 
plans should be approved at member level, at individual (Executive) member or 
at officer delegated level. 
 

5.3 Given that the content of the plans is prescribed by the Food Standards Agency, 
members may deem it unnecessary and overly burdensome for Executive 
approval of future changes to the plans.  Conversely, members may wish to 
ensure that there is member involvement and oversight so may not deem it 
appropriate that officers are delegated this authority. 
 

5.4 The Executive Member has been consulted and is happy to agree future 
changes to the plans in consultation with the Director of Place and Economy.   
This approach will ensure changes can be made efficiently with sufficient and 
appropriate oversight. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



6. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
6.1 Resources and Financial 

 
6.1.1 The delivery of the service plans is resourced within existing budgets. 

 
 

6.2 Legal  
 

6.2.1 The publication of the council’s Food Safety and Food and Feed Standards 
service plans are prescribed by the Food Standards Agency, which is acting 
under powers vested in it by the Food Standards Act 1999.  Approval of these 
plans will ensure that the council, as a food authority is meeting its fundamental 
obligations under the requirements of the Food Standards Agency’s Official 
Controls Framework Agreement. 

 
 
6.3 Risk  

 
6.3.1 There are no risks arising from the proposed recommendations in this report. 
 
 
6.4 Consultation  

 
6.4.1 No consultation with the public and/or agencies/interested parties was 

necessary.  Consultation was carried out with Sovereign Council food leads. 
 
 
6.5 Consideration by Scrutiny 

 
6.5.1 These plans have not been considered by Scrutiny but are eligible for call-in in 

accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules and the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules in the Council’s Constitution (Parts 5 and 7 respectively). 

 
 
6.6 Climate Impact 

 
6.6.1 There is an environmental impact due to car travel to premises however this is 

kept to a minimum by ensuring officers carry out multiple visits particularly for 
long journeys. 

 
 
6.7 Community Impact 

 
6.7.1 Delivery of the plan will ensure our businesses are compliant with the law and 

supported and public health is protected. 
 
 
7. Background Papers 

 
7.1 The Food Safety Act 1990 

Food Safety Act 1990 (legislation.gov.uk) 
 

Page 9

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/16/section/6


7.2 Food and Feed Law codes of practice 
Food and Feed Codes of Practice | Food Standards Agency 
 

7.3 Food Standards Agency Framework Agreement 
Local authorities | Food Standards Agency 

 

Page 10

https://www.food.gov.uk/about-us/food-and-feed-codes-of-practice#food-law-code-of-practice
https://www.food.gov.uk/about-us/local-authorities


Appendix A 

1 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

 
 

 
Food Safety Service 

Plan 2021-23 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Add date or version no. 
 

www.northnorthants.gov.uk   

  

Page 11

Appendix 

http://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/
http://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/


Appendix A 

2 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

Document Version Control 
 
**Complete this section, making sure to include the following information**: 
Author (Post holder title): Samantha Edmunds, Health Protection Manager (East Northamptonshire 
Area) 
Type of document: Service Plan 
Version Number: V1 
Document File Name: Food Safety Service Plan 2021 - 23 V1 
Issue date: ? 
Approval date and by who (Executive): Executive approval - 18th November 2021 
Document held by (name/section): Samantha Edmunds, Regulatory Services 
For internal publication only or external also?:  To be published on the North Northamptonshire Council 
Website 
Document stored on Council website or Intranet?: Council website 
Next review date: April 23 
 

Change History 
 

Issue Date Comments 

   

V1 29th September 21 First North Northamptonshire Service Plan 

   

   

NB: Draft versions 0.1 - final published versions 1.0 
 

Consultees 
 

Internal External 

e.g. Individual(s) / Group / Section e.g. Stakeholders / Partners /Organisation(s) 

Iain Smith None 

Amanda Wilcox  

Russ Howell  

Damian Wilkins  

  

 

Distribution List 
 

Internal External 

e.g. Individual(s) / Group / Section e.g. Stakeholders / Partners /Organisation(s) 

Iain Smith None 

Amanda Wilcox  

Russ Howell  

Damian Wilkins  

 

Links to other documents 
 

Document Link 

Enforcement Policy Enforcement policy | North Northamptonshire Council 
(northnorthants.gov.uk) 

  

  

  

Page 12

https://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/your-council/enforcement-policy
https://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/your-council/enforcement-policy


Appendix A 

3 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

 

Contents 
 

Section Page 

1.0 Introduction 3 

2.0 Service aims and objectives 3 

3.0 Background 4 

4.0 Demands on the Food Safety Service 8 

5.0 Food Safety Delivery 21/23 9 

6.0 General Service Issues 13 

Appendix A 16 

  

 
 

1.0 Introduction 
 
1.1 This plan details how North Northamptonshire Council’s (the Council) Regulatory Services intends to 
deliver, monitor and improve its Food Safety Service from 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2023. 
  
1.2 This is the inaugural Food Safety Service Plan for the Council. The drafting and publishing of this plan   
has been delayed due to local government reorganisation and the Covid-19 response. 
 
1.3 Regulatory Services sits within the Place and Economy Directorate and, along with Food Safety, also 
delivers services in the following areas: 
 

 Trading Standards 

 Northamptonshire Travelers Unit 

 Emergency Planning and Local Resilience 

 Environmental Health (Health and Safety, Licensing, Environmental Protection) 

 Building Control 

 Local Land Charges 
 

1.4 The following plan sets out how the Council will deliver its service in accordance with the Food Standards 
Agency’s ‘Framework Agreement’ and Covid-19 Local Authority Recovery Plan.  Although adversely affected 
by the Covid-19 pandemic, the service is progressing well with recovery, to fully restore its services and also 
adapt to new ways of working. 
 

Iain Smith 
Assistant Director of Regulatory Services 

 
 

2.0 Service aims and objectives 
 
2.1 As the Council was only formed on 1st April 2021, the Corporate Plan is still in the process of being 
developed and will be subject to approval by the Executive.  Once the Corporate plan is approved, if 
required, Service Plans will be revised and aligned with the Corporate aims and objectives. 
 
2.2 Enforcement Policy 
 
2.2.1 Food Safety Enforcement will be taken in accordance with the Council’s documented Enforcement 

Policy Enforcement policy | North Northamptonshire Council (northnorthants.gov.uk) 

 
 
 

Page 13

https://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/your-council/enforcement-policy


Appendix A 

4 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

3.0 Background 
 
3.1 Profile of the Local Authority: North Northants by Area 

 
 

Page 14



Appendix A 

5 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

3.1.1 North Northamptonshire Council is a unitary council which came into existence on 1st April 2021 and is 
responsible for providing a range of public services to residents and businesses in the areas of Corby, East 
Northamptonshire, Kettering and Wellingborough. 

3.1.2 North Northamptonshire covers 380 square miles, is made up of 110 parishes and has approximately 
150,140 households. The population is approximately 350,448.  Under 10% of the population are from non-
white backgrounds with the largest group being ‘Asian and Asian British’ and others consisting of ‘Black or 
Black British’, ‘Mixed Race’, ‘Chinese or other ethnic group’. 

3.1.3 North Northamptonshire is served by major road networks such as the A6, A14, A43, A45, A47, A509, 
A605, and A6116. North Northamptonshire has a rateable value of £338 million and has 74,600 working 
households. 

3.2 Executive Leadership Team 

 

3.3 Place and Economy Services 

 

Chief Executive

Executive Director of 
Children's Services 

(DCS) (Shared)

Executive Director 
Adults, Communities 

and Wellbeing

Director of Public 
Health

Executive Director 
Place & Economy

Executive Director 
Finance

Director of 
Transformation

Director of Legal & 
Democrateic 

Services (MO)

Assistant Chief 
Execuitive

Executive Director 
Place and 
Economy

Assistant Director 
Growth and 

Regeneration

Assistant Director 
Assets & 

Environment

Assistant Director 
Highways & Waste

Assistant Director 
Regulatory 

Services

Page 15



Appendix A 

6 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

3.4 Regulatory Services Structures 

East Area 

 

Wellingborough Area 

 

 

Health Protection 
Manager (FT)

Environmental 
Health Officer (FT) 

vacent

Environmental 
Health Officer (PT)

Environmental 
Health Officer (PT)

Health Protection 
Technical Officer 

(FT)

Senior 
Environmental 

Health Officer (FT)

Assistant Director 
Regulatory 

Services (FT)

Principal Environmental 
Health Manager (FT)

Environmental Health 
Officer (FT)

Environmental Health 
Officer (FT)

Health Protection Officer 
(FT)

Team Leader (Health 
Protection) (FT)

Assistant Director 
Regulatory Services (FT)

Page 16



Appendix A 

7 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

Corby Area 

 

 

Kettering Area 

 

Please note that structures show only those officers that undertake food activities however, these officers have other functions such as health and 
safety, licensing and investigation of infectious diseases to differing degrees in some sovereign authorities.  Food administration work is also carried 
out in areas by officers not shown in the above structures and in some cases the above posts are being covered by agency workers currently.  

 

Assistant Director 
Regulatory Services 

(FT)

Health Protection 
Manager (FT)

Health Protection 
Officer (FT)

Senior Environmental 
Health Officer (FT) 

Senior Environmental 
Health Officer (FT) 

vacent

Health Services 
Manager (FT)

Environmental 
Health Officer (FT)

Environmental 
Health Officer (PT)

Health Protection 
Officer (PT)

Trainee 
Environmental 

Health Officer (FT)

Health Protection 
Team Leader (PT)

Assistant Director 
Regulatory 

Services (FT)

Page 17



Appendix A 

8 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

3.5 Scope of the Food Service 

3.5.1 Food safety activities include: 

 Registration and where relevant approval of food businesses 

 Programmed inspections or interventions 

 The investigation of complaints 

 Investigating food poisoning and food borne infectious disease 

 Responding to food alerts 

 The provision of guidance and advice to businesses and members of the public 

 Provision of health certificates for food to be exported 

 Food and environmental sampling 
 

4.0 Demands on the Food Safety Service 
 
 
4.1 As of 1st April 2021, North Northamptonshire Council had 3044 food businesses registered for 
inspection, 330 of which were awaiting inspection.  The risk category profile is as follows: 
 

  Risk Category Unrun 

  A B C D E Unrated Total 

Area 

East 0 12 89 254 393 84 832 

Wellingborough 1 24 107 229 405 48 814 

Corby 1 15 81 132 169 31 429 

Kettering 0 6 109 304 383 167 969 

 Total 2 57 386 919 1350 330 3044 
 
4.2 Intervention frequency is set out in the Food Standards Agency Food Law Code of Practice (England) 
as follows: 
 

 Food Hygiene Intervention Frequencies 
 A at least every 6 months  
 B at least every 12 months 
 C at least every 18 months  
 D at least every 2 years   
 E Alternative enforcement strategy 
 
4.3 Under Regulation (EC) No 853/2004 some food business establishments that handle food of animal origin 
are required to be approved by the competent authority.  North Northamptonshire Council currently has 14 
approved establishments. 
 
North Northamptonshire list of approved food premises 
 

Approval 
number 

Trading Name Postcode Scope Area 

CX 002 Taste Original NN17 4DU Processing Plant (Meat) Corby 

CX 007 Orchard House Foods Ltd NN17 4SW Processing Plant (Dairy) Corby 

CX 008 Cambridge Weight Plan Limited NN17 5LU Processing Plant (Meat) Corby 

CX 009 Efamy Food Products NN18 9AS Processing Plant (Meat) Pro-
cessing Plant (Fish) 

Corby 

KG 004 Meat Link UK Ltd LE16 8HL Cold Store Processing Plant 
(Meat) 

Kettering 

Page 18



Appendix A 

9 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

KG 005 Meat Link UK Ltd LE16 8HL Mince Meat Establishment 
Meat Preparation Establishment 
Processing Plant (Meat) 

Kettering 

WU 011 Jaeger Casings NN8 1RA Processing Plant (Meat) Pro-
cessing Plant (Stomachs) 

Wellingborough 

WU 022 Barratt Foods NN8 1RT Processing Plant (Meat) Wellingborough 

WU 023 Station Farm NN9 5NX Packing Centre (Egg) Wellingborough 

WU 024 Cooked Meat Co. Ltd NN8 4HN Processing Plant (Meat) Wellingborough 

WU 027 Joans Fresh Eggs NN8 2NQ Packing Centre (Egg) Wellingborough 

WU 028 Abbey Farm NN29 7PY Packing Centre (Egg) Wellingborough 

WU 029 Billington Foodservice Ltd NN8 6GS Cold Store Mince Meat Estab-
lishment Meat Preparation Es-
tablishment Processing Plant 
(Gelatine) Processing Plant 
(Fish) Processing Plant (Meat) 
Processing Plant (Rendered ani-
mal fats) Processing Plant 
(Dairy) Processing Plant (Egg) 

Wellingborough 

WU 030 Billington Foodservice Ltd NN8 6XX Mince Meat Establishment 
Meat Preparation Establishment 
Mechanically Separated Meat 
Establishment Processing Plant 
(Gelatine) Processing Plant 
(Fish) Processing Plant (Ren-
dered animal fats) Processing 
Plant (Dairy) Processing Plant 
(Egg) 

Wellingborough 

 
 

5.0 Food Safety Service Delivery 2021/23 
 
5.0.1 The Food Standards Agency directs Food Safety service delivery through its Food Law Code of 
Practice.  The Service Head is Iain Smith, Assistant Director of Regulatory Services.  The lead food officers 
responsible for the areas in North Northamptonshire are: 
 

 Corby: Damian Wilkins, Health Protection Manager, Damian.Wilkins@northnorthants.gov.uk 

 East: Samantha Edmunds, Health Protection Manager, 
Samantha.Edmunds@northnorthants.gov.uk 

 Kettering: Russ Howell, Health Services Manager, Russell.Howell@NorthNorthants.gov.uk 

 Wellingborough: Amanda Wilcox, Interim Environmental Health Lead, 
Amanda.Wilcox@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 

5.1 Food Premises Inspections 
 
5.1.1 North Northamptonshire Council officers conduct inspections and interventions to check compliance 
with food law.  Visits are conducted in line with the Food Premises Inspection procedure which is accordant 
with the Food Law Code of Practice. 
 
5.1.2 Inspections are carried out at frequencies based on risk as detailed in the Food Law Code of Practice 
as set out above at 4.2.  Revisits and enforcement action are carried out where necessary in accordance with 

the Council’s Enforcement Policy.  Food Hygiene Ratings will be displayed at Food Hygiene Ratings following 

inspections and window stickers issued to businesses in accordance with the scheme. 

Page 19

mailto:Damian.Wilkins@northnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:Samantha.Edmunds@northnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:Russell.Howell@NorthNorthants.gov.uk
mailto:Amanda.Wilcox@northnorthants.gov.uk
https://ratings.food.gov.uk/


Appendix A 

10 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

 
5.1.3 The Food Law Code of Practice enables Local Authorities to deal with low risk premises (Category E) 
by means other than inspection.  North Northamptonshire Council deals with these premises by using a postal 
questionnaire which is assessed and followed up where necessary. 
 
5.1.4 The Covid-19 Pandemic has had a significant adverse impact on the Council’s ability to carry out the 
food safety service throughout 2020-2021.  Officers responsible for Food Safety functions were redeployed 
to the Covid-19 response.  This was the case in most Councils across the country so was acknowledged by 
the Food Standards Agency who provided direction to focus only on high risk food safety matters whilst 
deferring planned interventions.  The Food Standards Agency Board have recently agreed a Local Authority 
Recovery Roadmap which provides a framework on re-starting the regulatory delivery system in line with the 
Food Law Code of Practice for highest risk establishments while providing flexibility for lower risk businesses. 
 
 
Inspections due for April 2021 to 31 March 2022 including backlog of inspections pre 1 April 2021 
 

 Interventions due 

A B C D Unrated Total 

Area 

East 0 0 41 124 40 205 

Backlog 0 12 48 130 82 272 

Wellingborough 1 22 43 85 101 252 

Backlog 0 0 30 66 21 117 

Corby 1 2 22 72 30 127 

Backlog 0 13 47 28 36 124 

Kettering 0 4 29 180 18 231 

Backlog 0 2 74 116 149 341 

Total 2 55 334 801 477 1669 
Figures are as of 25/05/2021  

 
5.2 Food Standards Agency’s Covid-19 Local Authority Recovery Plan 
 
5.2.1 The following illustrates the Foods Standards Agency’s expectations and timescales for the Recovery 
Roadmap. This is effectively a ‘re-set’ so inspections, including those that are overdue will need to be 
undertaken by the timescales set out in the plan.  Local Authorities are encouraged to move at a faster pace 
where possible and must alert the Food Standards Agency if they cannot deliver in line with the plan. 
 
5.2.2 The lead food officers for North Northamptonshire Council do not envisage any problems achieving the 
Food Standards Agency’s expectations and progress will be reviewed during the County Food Liaison Group 
meetings. 
 
 

Page 20



Appendix A 

11 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

 
5.3 Advice to Businesses and Primary Authority 
 
5.3.1 The Council shall provide appropriate and competent advice, through a variety of different means, to 
local businesses and residents, within its resource constraints.   
 
5.3.2 Food Safety/hygiene advice shall be routinely given as part of an intervention and is complemented 
using mail shots, national/local campaigns and promotional activities.  Advice is also provided upon request 
for new businesses and events. 
 
5.3.3 In July 2009 the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act introduced Primary Authorities for some 
regulatory functions. The scheme allows a business to form a statutory partnership with a local authority 
which then provides robust and reliable assured advice and inspection plans that other regulators must 
consider when carrying out inspections or investigating noncompliance.  The aim of the scheme is to ensure 
local regulation is consistent at a national level, is sufficiently flexible to address local circumstances and 
allows local authorities to recover their costs.  Although there are currently no Primary Authority agreements 
in place across North Northamptonshire this will be a key future priority. 
 
5.4 Food Sampling 
 
5.4.1 North Northamptonshire Council takes part in both National Public Health England and regional 
sampling programs.  Sampling is targeted at highest risk premises and/or where there are hygiene concerns 
and is used to improve the effectiveness of food hygiene interventions.  Sampling may also be carried out to 
aid investigation of cases of food poisoning or to investigate complaints about food. 
  
 

  Number of microbiological samples 

  2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Area 

East  99 63 99 0 

Wellingborough 196 47 177 0 

Corby 200 197 176 17 

Kettering 82 29 12 0 

 Total 577 336 464 17 
 
5.5 Infectious Disease Control 
 

Page 21



Appendix A 

12 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

5.5.1 General Practitioners report suspected cases of food poisoning to the Consultant for Communicable 
Disease Control (CCDC) at Public Health England.  The local medical microbiological laboratories also advise 
the CCDC of positive results for food poisoning and food/water related illness. Notifications are sent to 
Environmental Health Practitioners so they can carry out investigations to determine the source of infection. 
 
5.5.2 Documented procedures are available for the management of investigations of outbreaks of food borne 
disease.  The procedures were developed and are regularly reviewed with the CCDC and other regional local 
authorities. 
 

  Number of individual investigated cases 
(informal and formally notified) 

  2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Area 

East  145 137 129 58 

Wellingborough 113 103 79 159 

Corby 71 59 63 27 

Kettering 63 42 52 22 

 Total 392 341 323 266 
 
 
5.6 Food Safety Incidents 
 
5.6.1 The Food Standards Agency declares National food safety incidents from time to time and notifies food 
authorities of these by means of ‘Food Alert’ procedures.  Some notifications require directed action, whereas 
others are for information only.  The Council ensures all directed action is acted upon. 
 

Number of National Food Alerts received 
(issued to all Local Authorities, so all four areas 

received the same number of Food Alerts) 
2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

158 186 164 129 

 
5.7 Liaison with other Organisations 
 
5.7.1 The Council is a member of the Northamptonshire Food Liaison Group.  The group’s aims are to: 
  

 act as a forum to provide consistent enforcement, policy and procedures and 

 share knowledge, skills and intelligence 
 
5.7.2 Other organisational links include: 
 

 Public Health England (East Midlands) 

 Building Control 

 Care Quality Commission 

 Office for Standards in Education  

 Police and Fire Authorities 
 
5.8 Promotion and Education 
 
5.8.1 Regulatory Services will contribute to National ‘Food Safety Week’.  Activities are based around 
raising public awareness of food safety and hygiene issues. 
 
5.8.2 As a registered training centre the Council has previously offered food hygiene courses, however, these 
ceased at the start of the pandemic.  There will be a review to determine if demand exists and if so, consider 
how courses will be delivered in the future.  
 
5.9 Other key areas of work 

Page 22



Appendix A 

13 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

 
5.9.1 The County Food Liaison group has agreed the Food Work Plan 2021-22 which can be seen at 
Appendix 2. 
 
5.9.2 A key priority for the coming year is to set up an export subgroup to provide expert advice across the 
county for all types of export certification but particularly High-Risk Food Not of Animal Origin (HRFNAO).  It 
is a government priority to support businesses now we are no longer part of the EU.  Significant progress has 
been made and a procedure is currently being drafted after sampling HRFNAO at a Corby manufacturer. 
 
5.9.3 Now that we are a Unitary Authority it has been recognised that there are significant gains to working 
more closely with Trading Standards.  For ease, until the services are more aligned, the Food and Feed plan 
will sit alongside this plan with the intention to produce a single plan in the future.  Work has already begun 
on food standards interventions being undertaken as part of food hygiene interventions and the teams are 
working together to ensure that we are prepared for the implementation of ‘Natasha’s Law’ from October.  
The UK Food Information amendment will require food businesses to provide full ingredients lists and allergen 
labelling on foods pre-packaged for direct sale 

 

6.0 General Service Issues 
 
6.1 Resources 
 

  2021/22 budget 

Area 

East 

Staffing £125,702 

Travel £6,020 

Supplies & Services £4,560 

Income -£1,870 

Net Expenditure £134,412 

Wellingborough 

Staffing £130,282 

Travel £3,103 

Supplies & Services £2,600 

Income -£20,032 

Net Expenditure £115,953 

Corby 

Staffing £104,768 

Travel £2,300 

Supplies & Services £6,210 

Income -£26,000 

Net Expenditure £87,278 

 Kettering 

 Staffing £114,925 

 Travel £4,600 

 Supplies & Services £2,550 

 Income -£20,000 

 Net Expenditure £102,075 

Total Net 
Expenditure 

 £439,718 

 

6.2 Staffing Allocation 
 

Page 23



Appendix A 

14 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

6.2.1 Senior/Environmental Health Officers have responsibility for food safety, commercial occupational 
health and safety and health protection and improvement. This remit facilitates a broad approach to the 
protection of public health within the area. 
 
6.2.2 The Food Safety Team comprises of mainly Environmental Health Practitioners complimented by Health 
Protection Officers. All Environmental Health Officers possess a BSc or MSc in Environmental Health and hold 
a Certificate of Registration from the Environmental Health Officers Registration Board. 

  
6.2.3. The following table details the current full-time equivalent (FTE) posts delivering the services outlined 
in this plan. Where there are unexpected demands on the service such as responding to the Covid-19 
pandemic, vacancies or complex legal cases, service provision will be prioritised to ensure high risk 
interventions that have the most value in protecting the public are undertaken. 
 
 

Area Food Safety Establishment 

East 
 

3.1 FTE 
 
Health Protection Manager   0.2 FTE 
Senior Environmental Health Officer    0.65 FTE 
Environmental Health Officers (3)   1.8 FTE 
Health Protection Technical Officer        0.45 FTE 

 

Wellingborough 
 

2.5 FTE 
 
Environmental Health Manager          0.15 FTE 
Team Leader    0.35 FTE 
Environmental Health Officers (2)  1.35 FTE 
Health Protection Officer    0.65 FTE 
 

 

Corby 1.2 FTE 
 
Health Protection Manager   0.2 FTE 
Senior Environmental Health Officers (2) 0.7 FTE 
Health Protection Officer   0.3 FTE 
   

 

Kettering 1.3 FTE 
 
Health Services Manager   0.2 FTE 
Health Protection Team Leader   0.4 FTE 
Environmental Health Officers (2)                    0.4 FTE 
Health Protection Officer  0.1 FTE 
Trainee Environmental Health Officer 0.2 FTE 

   

Total 8.1 FTE 

  

 
Note - administration support is provided in some areas by posts not shown above. 

 

6.3 Staff Development Plan 
 
6.3.1 At annual appraisals discussions are held with all food officers.  Actions are agreed and documented in 
accordance with delivery of this plan.  Training and development needs are also discussed, and appropriate 
action taken to ensure continuous professional development. 
 
6.3.2 Staff attending training or, in some cases carrying out their own research, will cascade training to expand 
the knowledge base of others. 
 

Page 24



Appendix A 

15 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

6.4 Quality Assessments 
 
6.4.1 Documented procedures and attendance at the County Food Liaison Group contribute to delivery of a 
consistent high-quality service. 
 
6.4.2 Internal monitoring procedures are in place to ensure quality and consistency.  These include monitoring 
of workloads and specific cases during one to one and team meetings in addition to checking progress against 
this service plan. 
 
6.5 Review against service objectives 
 
6.5.1 The Council will review its performance in respect of delivery against this plan on an annual basis. 
 
6.5.2 Performance indicators will be reported on a monthly basis to the Assistant Director of Regulatory 
Services.  Details of these indicators are found at Appendix 1. 
 

Page 25



Appendix A 

16 | North Northamptonshire Council – Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23 
 

Appendix 1:  Food Safety Service Performance Measures 

 
 

Performance Indicator Frequency Target 

% of food establishments in the area 
which are broadly compliant with 
food hygiene law 

Quarterly 95% 

Cumulative No. of High Risk (A-C) 
inspections due / overdue (monthly, 
from April 21) 

Monthly  

Cumulative No. of High Risk (A-C) 
inspections carried out (monthly, 
from April 21) 

Monthly  

The number of food registrations 
received (monthly) 

Monthly  

 

Page 26



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

 

North Northamptonshire Council Trading Standards 
 

 

FOOD and FEED STANDARDS ENFORCEMENT SERVICE PLAN 2021/23 

 
INTRODUCTION 
This Plan outlines how the Trading Standards Service carries out its statutory duties to enforce 
standards for food and animal feeding stuffs. This includes monitoring the composition, labelling, 
claims, and descriptions relating to foodstuffs for human consumption, materials and articles in 
contact with food, and feeding stuffs for livestock and pets. 
 
This has been prepared in accordance with the Food Safety Act 1990 Framework Agreement 1(April 

2010) published by the Food Standards Agency (FSA). In this plan ‘food’ should be read as meaning 
food for human consumption and ‘feed’ means animal feeding stuffs. 
 
 As a result of available resources within the Trading Standards Service, a risk assessed basis 
(utilising the National Trading Standards Intelligence Operating Model) has been applied to its 
responsibilities as the Service is unable to meet all the demands placed upon it across its wide 
remit. This Service Plan does not meet the requirements set out in the Food and Feed Codes of 
Practice (England). Where indicated, the plan should be read in conjunction with the Trading 
Standards Service Plan 2021/22 [SP].  
 
1.  SERVICE AIMS AND PRIORITIES 
 

1.1 The Service’s aims and priorities are reviewed annually and may be found in the Trading 
Standards Service Plan. The main aim of the Service is to, as far as possible within allocated 
resources to ensure a safe and fair trading environment in North Northamptonshire. The key 
priority is to protect our communities, particularly those that are most vulnerable, from rogue 
trading. 

 
1.2 Corporate objectives and plans 

    As the Council was only formed on 1st April 2021, the Corporate Plan is still in the process of 
being developed and will be subject to approval by the Executive.  Once the Corporate plan 
is approved, if required, Service Plans will be revised and aligned with the Corporate aims 
and objectives.  
 
Food Standards work contributes to the Council’s priorities by protecting people, by helping 
reputable businesses to meet their responsibilities, by tackling those who flout the law or act 
irresponsibly, by helping the market place to operate fairly and competitively, enabling 
consumers to make informed choices about the food they eat, and by health promotion 
activity.  
 
 

2.  BACKGROUND 
 

2.1 Profile of the North Northamptonshire 
North Northamptonshire Council is a new Unitary Council which, from 1st April 2021, has 
taken over the provision of local public service provision from the aggregated Councils of 

Page 27

Appendix 



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

Kettering, Wellingborough, Corby & East Northamptonshire, and from the disaggregated 
Northamptonshire County Council.  
The North Northamptonshire Council Trading Standards Service was created from half the 
disaggregated Northamptonshire County Council Trading Standards Service. 
 

2.2 Organisational Structure 
The food and feed enforcement responsibilities are managed within the Trading Standards 
Service of the Council’s Regulatory Services Division; see structure chart at Annex 4. 
 
The Service now has 11 staff (10.8 full time equivalent). Three enforcement staff (including 
one contractor) are currently competent and actively involved in food enforcement. One 
member of staff is competent and actively involved in feed enforcement. 
 

2.3  Scope 
Food and Feed Standards work is only part of the statutory responsibilities enforced by the 
Trading Standards Service (see list of legislation enforced Annex 3 and the SP). Work is 
combined with other activities for efficiency and effectiveness.  
Statutory Public Analyst services are provided by Public Analyst Scientific Services Ltd.  
 

2.4  Demands on the Food and Feed Service 
The premises risk rating scheme utilised is the revised National Trading Standards Board 
agreed risk scheme.  
The Service maintains a database of all businesses identified as affected by trading 
standards legislation.  

 
 

Food Standards Inspection Premises As at April 
2021 
premises1 

High Risk2 6 

Upper Medium Risk 95 

Lower Medium Risk 1904 

Low. Risk 231 

Total premises subject to Food Standards Risk 2236 

 
 

 As at April 
2021 
premises1 

Animal Feed Premises 
Livestock and arable farms and other businesses in 
the feed chain 

947 

Registered Establishments 3 381 

Approvals 1 

Livestock farms 656 
  

Notes 
1 Numbers will vary throughout the year as the system is updated.  
2 Risk assessment has been based on the version published by National Trading Standards Board 

2013. 

Page 28



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

3. The numbers include livestock and arable farms, manufacturers, food businesses supplying surplus 
food for animal feed, and transporters.   
Farms register with this Service if they request, such as when audited by a Food Assurance Scheme, 
and Farms are registered directly by the Service where they are identified as unregistered on 
inspection/complaint/enquiry. 

 
2.5 Regulation Policy 

    Food Safety Enforcement will be taken in accordance with the Council’s documented 
Enforcement Policy which is currently drafted and awaiting approval. 
 
 

 

3.  Service Delivery 
Interventions at Food and Feed establishments   
 

3.1 The authority’s 
policy on 
interventions 

 

Interventions are in the main visits to businesses for the purpose of 
inspection and/or sampling of the business to check compliance 
(frequently encompassing other trading standards legislation that applies 
including fair trading, age restricted sales, metrology). Recognising the 
continuity of the food chain it is necessary to consider aspects of animal 
health and welfare, primary production of food, animal feed, surplus food 
and animal by-products and food standards that apply to a food or feed 
business. We work with businesses, offering business advice and 
primary authority partnerships to assist businesses to improve or 
maintain their compliance. Intelligence, including complaints, is 
prioritised for an appropriate response including retaining as intelligence. 
Businesses are risk assessed according to the method incorporated into 
the dedicated database, Civica’s Authority. This is currently modelled on 
a risk assessment process designed by the National Trading Standards 
Board. Premises may have their risk rating raised or lowered according 
to the assessment of confidence in the business management, which is 
assessed following inspection or contravention.  
This year’s plan is outlined in Annex 1. 
Food and animal feed standards enforcement is an integral part of the 
Service and therefore it is not possible to accurately detail financial 
expenditure for it. 
 

3.2 Food and Feed 
Complaints and 
enquiries 

The Citizens Advice Consumer Service is the initial point of contact for 
most consumer complaints and enquiries on Trading Standards matters. 
Appropriate complaints are referred to the Service where they are 
prioritised and may be investigated. We are therefore critically reliant on 
the availability of that Service, and their competence, to identify the 
nature of the complaint so that it may be correctly prioritised according to 
our complaint grading policy. The complaint grading policy has been 
revised to reflect the reduced resources available and will focus on those 
matters causing most risk and harm.  
Therefore, food and feed issues affecting the safety of consumers are 
prioritised over other food and feed complaints. 
Complaints about food will be dealt with in accordance with the Trading 
Standards Service Enforcement Policy. 
The Food Safety Act 1990 Code of Practice directs which complaints are 
more appropriately dealt with by Food Safety officers in the 

Page 29

https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/business-and-economy/trading-standards/support-for-business/Documents/Trading%20Standards%20Enforcement%20Policy.pdf
https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/business-and-economy/trading-standards/support-for-business/Documents/Trading%20Standards%20Enforcement%20Policy.pdf


  Appendix B 

 

   

 

Environmental Health Service of North Northamptonshire Council 
Regulatory Services. There is a local memorandum of understanding 
with the Environmental Health Services of North and West 
Northamptonshire Regulatory Services to ensure consumer complaints 
are dealt with appropriately and efficiently. 
 

3.3 Home Authority 
Principle and 
Primary 
Authority 
Scheme  

Primary Authority Scheme 
It is Service policy to comply with the requirements of the Primary 
Authority scheme where we are the enforcing authority.  
We have delegated authority to enter into Primary Authority partnerships under 
the Regulatory Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008. The Service offers 
Primary Authority agreements to eligible businesses, and charges for business 
advice that extends beyond basic signposting and identification of legal duties. 
Basic advice is provided to start up and small businesses without charge. The 
demand is likely to be around 200 enquiries for business advice across the 
service. The applicable fees are published on our website. 

https://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/trading-standards 
 
The Service does not act as Home Authority for those businesses who 
do not wish to enter into a Primary Authority Partnership, however the 
Service will provide advice and guidance on a cost-recovery basis. Any 
referring authorities with issues concerning non-Primary Authority 
businesses are asked to contact the business directly, conclude their 
own investigations and notify the outcome to this Service for intelligence 
purposes. The intelligence may be used on inspection or other regulatory 
intervention with the business. 
 

3.4 Advice to 
Business  

The Service provides advice to business through inspections, visits, 
telephone enquiries, occasional mailshots, press releases, the website, 
and occasional talks.  
Contact is maintained with the business community by liaising with 
business organisations.  
Where appropriate businesses, especially start-up businesses are 
directed for self-help advice via the Business Companion website, pages 
on www.gov.uk and the FSA website. More complex issues are dealt with 
by officers under the business advice policy. 
The Service has contacts with the trade support network ‘Made in 
Northamptonshire’ and SEMLEP Growth Hub. It is recognised that some 
changes in legislation are appropriate for a business seminar approach.  
  

3.5 Food and Feed 
Sampling  

A Survey programme is being prepared for 2021-22 for food and feed. 
There is a budget of £8,000 for all sampling and analysis across NNC 
Trading Standards. This budget will be prioritised on a risk assessed 
basis across all the Service’s responsibilities. Samples are submitted to 
the appointed Public and Agricultural Analyst laboratories and 
occasionally to other test houses where necessary. 

3.6 Food and Feed 
investigations  

Contraventions of food standards legislation are assessed using the 
National Trading Standards Intelligence Operating Model tasking process 
that considers appropriateness of enforcement action in accordance with 
relevant policies. Resource commitments for food standards 

Page 30

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/ejk0CEZQEC6yypuBg2mb?domain=northnorthants.gov.uk
http://www.businesscompanion.info/
http://www.gov.uk/
http://food.gov.uk/


  Appendix B 

 

   

 

investigations vary according to the nature and complexity of 
infringements detected. 
 

3.7 Food and Feed 
Safety 
Incidents  

Food Alerts are received through the FSA Smarter Communications 
interface, which is accessible to all registered food officers, and email 
contacts from the Food Standards Agency. These are monitored by 
relevant staff. Relevant alerts requiring action are responded to. The 
authority liaises with other local authorities, trading standards and 
environmental health to co-ordinate responses to alerts that relate to food 
standards, including publicity and communication with traders, as 
required and as practicable.  
 

3.8 Liaison with 
Other 
Organisations  

The Service is a member of Trading Standards East Midlands (TSEM) 
which coordinates work on Food Standards, Feed and Agriculture 
Enforcement across the region where it is appropriate to do so. The 
Service also has access to a national ‘Knowledge Hub’ website for 
specialist officers related to food labelling and feed matters. Regular 
contacts are maintained with the North & West Northamptonshire Food 
Liaison Group, where the seven ex-District Council EHOs co-ordinate 
enforcement of food hygiene and food standards. The Trading Standards 
Manager attends the NNC Regulatory Services Mangers Group.  
Where appropriate, liaison takes place with DEFRA, the FSA, DoH, and 
the Animal and Plant Health Agency regarding enforcement of animal 
health and welfare controls and other relevant bodies as appropriate.  
 

3.9 Food and Feed 
Safety and 
Standards 
promotional 
work, and other 
non-official 
controls 
interventions  

The Service maintains website links to sources of advice and has previously 
produced additional guidance, when appropriate, for businesses and 
consumers as can be found on our website: 

https://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/trading-standards 
 
The primary source of business guidance is supplied by CTSI through 
the Business Companion website https://www.businesscompanion.info/ 
 

Businesses are directed to Business Companion as well as government 
websites such as the Food Standards Agency and www.gov.uk  to 
provide consistent guidance.  
 

Media releases will be used to promote food standards issues where 
appropriate. It is Service policy to inform the local media of all legal 
proceedings taken by the Service to assist in education of businesses 
and consumers and to act as a deterrent to those who may act 
irresponsibly or flout the law.  
Where appropriate we will seek to liaise with colleagues within North 
Northamptonshire Council in relation to public health issues relating to 
food and feed. 
 

 

 
4. Resources 
 

Page 31

https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/ejk0CEZQEC6yypuBg2mb?domain=northnorthants.gov.uk
https://www.businesscompanion.info/
https://www.food.gov.uk/business-guidance
http://www.gov.uk/


  Appendix B 

 

   

 

4.1 Financial 
Allocation  

Overall resources allocated to the Trading Standards Service are 
detailed in the Service Plan. Food and animal feed standards 
enforcement is an integral part of the Service and therefore it is not 
possible to accurately detail financial expenditure for it. It is estimated 
that approximately 20% of operational activities will be dedicated to food 
standards work although this may continue to be affected by business 
closures due to Covid-19.  

4.2 Staffing 
Allocation  

One permanent enforcement staff member is currently actively involved 
in food and feed enforcement although he is not purely dedicated to 
food standards enforcement. This officer holds appropriate 
qualifications and experience, meeting the requirements of Food Safety 
Act 1990 Code of Practice for food standards and feed enforcement. In 
addition, a short/medium-term external contracted officer has been 
employed. From time to time, other qualified officers from within the 
Service and West Northamptonshire (mutual aid) also contribute to 
enforcement activities. All Enforcement Officers within the Service are 
required to undertake a range of trading standards obligations some 
proportion of which could include food and/or agriculture if suitably 
trained.  
 
One new enforcement officer is currently undertaking the CTSI CPCF 
and will be undertaking either the Food or Feed module from 
September 2021. Longer term, there is also 1 RCO apprentice who will 
go on to complete the CPCF too, again completing either the food or 
feed element.  
 
Any business, regardless of business sector, that shows an intentional, 
reckless, or repeated disregard for the principles of fair or safe trading 
will be tackled as a matter of priority, where resources allow.  
The revised FSA Code relating to inspection and business risking will be 
taken into account when planning activities within the resources 
available.  
 

4.3 Staff 
Development Plan  

All officers have an annual appraisal with their Line Manager that 
identifies their training and development needs. “Refresher” training will 
be provided for any staff returning to food standards enforcement work. 
Training will also be given to take account of any new legislation. The 
Food and Feed Codes of Practice specify revised continuing 
professional development and training: at least 10 hours relevant to food 
standards and safety and 10 hours’ professional practice; and 10 hours 
relevant to feed standards and safety during 2021/22.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
5.  Quality Assessment 

 

Page 32



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

5.1 Quality 
assessment and 
internal monitoring  

Procedures relating to all operational activities, including food and 
feed enforcement will be reviewed as appropriate during 2021/22 as 
part of the ongoing transformation of local government services in 
North Northamptonshire.  
 

 
 

 

 

6.  Review 
 

6.1 Review against 
the Service Plan  

A review of Food Standards Enforcement for 2020/21 
[Northamptonshire County Council] is attached as Annex 2. 
 

6.2 Identification of 
any Variation from 
the Service Plan  

There have been variations from the 2020/21 plan primarily as a result 
of the Covid-19 Pandemic. Variation has been in line with the 
prevailing version of National guidance ‘COVID-19 Local Authority 
Enforcement Q&A’ issued by the FSA throughout the year. 
 

6.3 Areas of 
Improvement  

The newly created Council is embarking on a challenge to transform 
services in the medium/long term. There are strict financial limitations 
in which it can work.  
 

  

Page 33



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

Annex 1 
 
FOOD AND FEED STANDARDS INTERVENTION PROGRAMME 2021 -2023 
All High Risk businesses will receive an intervention visit or where appropriate some other kind of 
contact.  
 
We will carry out a limited programme of food standards inspections and conduct limited sampling 
surveys taking into account resource availability, and Service priorities. Complaints and referrals 
from the public and other authorities and intelligence received from the Food Standards Agency and 
other sources assist in identifying areas of work as well as the previous history of compliance. 
 
Limited surveys of particular food business sectors will be conducted to assess compliance with the 
results being considered as to appropriate further action. 
 
There will be additional consequences not only for the Service locally and nationally but the county 

and country as a whole from the effects of lockdown resulting from a global pandemic of Covid-19. 

The magnitude of the easing of controls will continue to be felt. This includes an impact on all 

planned and unplanned interventions as well as an impact on ongoing and future investigations and 

prosecutions due to the closure of the courts. 

 

Business sectors 
Food 

Activity 
Target Numbers of 
Premises 2021-2023 

Food Standards (FS) Planned visits – 
Total 
 

  

FS Planned - High Risk 
 

Annual intervention due 100% 

FS Planned - Upper Medium Risk  
 
Targeted activities across business 
sectors. 
Retail – including National chains (having 
regard to Primary Authority) and other 
UM risked businesses  

Biennial intervention due 
 
Intervention by survey 
inspection or sampling 
(visits; mailshot to 
others) across business 
types  

As appropriate in line with 
FSA Covid-19 recovery 
period  
 
Work will be tasked based 
on risk assessment and 
available resources at the 
relevant time. 
 

FS Planned – Lower Medium and Low 
Risk 

Intervention by survey, 
sampling particularly 
regarding allergen 
information intelligence 
from complaints. Use of 
mailshot if appropriate. 

Work will be tasked based 
on risk assessment and 
available resources at the 
relevant time. 
 

FS Revisits 
 

As appropriate  

FS responsive – inspections and other 
interventions to assess Food Standards 
compliance 

Conducted following 
complaint, intelligence, 
visits prompted by other 
regulatory activities etc. 

 
Work will be tasked based 
on risk assessment and 
available resources at the 
relevant time. 
 

 
 

Page 34



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

 
 

 

 
 
3Feed visits 

 
Target – 

FSA contracted 

Manufacturers (A01-8 and R1-4) 0 

Co-product (R12) 2 

Importer 0 

Stores (R9) 1 

Distributor (R1-3, R5) 0 

Transporter (R8) 0 

On farm mixer (R10 and 11) 1 

Pet Food Manufacturer (R6) 1 

Supplier of surplus food (R7) 6 

Food Hygiene at Primary Production  

Livestock Farm (R13) 3 

Arable Farm (R14) 1 

 
Farm visits for feed hygiene and/or food primary production may be combined with visits for animal 
health and welfare complaints or enquiries. 
 

Sampling Activity Target 

Food samples (products submitted for analysis/report) £2000 budget allocation                    

Feeding stuffs samples  4As appropriate  

 
1. Inspections prompted by application for registration under a code that requires Annex II HACCP 

to be in place. The need for a visit will be assessed individually. 
2. The value given is an estimated target; actual numbers of such businesses that should be 

registered under the feed categories are undetermined.  
3. These are the figures for 2021-22 and maybe subject to change in 2023 
4. Samples may be taken in response to complaints and investigations. 

 
Work is continuing to improve database accuracy for food and feed premises. 
 
  

Page 35



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

Annex 2 
REVIEW OF FOOD AND FEED SAFETY AND STANDARDS WORK 2020/21 
[Northamptonshire County Council]  
 

Business sectors 
Food 

Activity 
Target Numbers 
of Premises 
2020/21 

Actual 

Food Standards (FS) Planned 
visits – Total 

    

FS Planned - High Risk Annual intervention due 100 (7) 71.4% (5) 

FS Planned - Upper Medium 
Risk  
(From a total of 146 premises 
currently) 
 
Targeted activities across 
business sectors. 
Retail – including National 
chains (having regard to 
Primary Authority) and other 
UM risked businesses  
 

 
 
Biennial intervention due 
 
 
Intervention by survey 
inspection or sampling 
(visits; mailshot to others) 
across business types  

 
100% 
 
 
Work based on risk 
assessment and 
available 
resources. 

 
100% (76)  
 
 

FS Planned – Lower Medium 
and Low Risk 

Intervention by survey, 
sampling particularly 
regarding allergen 
information intelligence 
from complaints. Use of 
mailshot if appropriate. 

Work based on risk 
assessment and 
available 
resources. 
 

134*  

FS responsive – inspections 
and other interventions to 
assess Food Standards 
compliance 

Conducted following 
complaint, intelligence, 
visits prompted by other 
regulatory activities etc. 

Work based on risk 
assessment and 
available 
resources. 

3 

Primary Authority and 
business advice 

Labelling reviews, 
interpretation advice, 
advice on developing 
legislation, advertising 
practice, complaints and 
incidents. 

  

BA food 26 
BA feed 9 
PA food 37 
PA feed 6  

Food and Feed-related 
complaints 

Food 
Consumer 
Referred from partners 
Feed 

 

102 
57 
41 
20 

*Includes updating of food premises database.  
  

Page 36



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

Feed visits 

 
Target – 

FSA contracted 
Actual 

Manufacturers (A01-8 and R1-4) 0 0 

Co-product (R12) 10 8 

Importer 0 0 

Stores (R9) 1 1 

Distributor (R1-3, R5) 0 0 

Transporter (R8) 0 0 

On farm mixer (R10 and 11) 2 2 

Pet Food Manufacturer (R6) 2 2 

Supplier of surplus food (R7) 8 6 

Food Hygiene at Primary Production   

Livestock Farm (R13) 6 5 

Arable Farm (R14) 1 1 

 

Farm visits for feed hygiene and/or food primary production may be combined with visits for animal 
health and welfare complaints or enquiries. 
 
 

Sampling Activity Target Actual 

Food samples (products 
submitted for analysis/report) 

 
14 

Feeding stuffs samples  3 

 
Surveys conducted: 

Survey  TOTAL 
SAMPLES 

RESULT 
TYPES 
Satisfactory 

 
Unsatisfactory 

None undertaken due to Covid-19    

 
1. Food Standards Summary 2020/21 [Northamptonshire County Council] 
  
Background: Staffing 

Following previous cuts, a bid was made to reinvest in the Trading Standards Service during 2020. 
8 jobs were advertised in total, for both experienced and new officers. Of the officers applying for 
the 2 Senior Authorised posts, 3 of the 5 were food qualified.  2 Senior Authorised posts were 
appointed to, 1 of which was food qualified. Of the 2 Authorised officers appointed, only 1 was 
experienced but not food qualified. During a 2nd round of recruitment for an authorised officer, there 
was only 1 non-food qualified applicant, who was appointed. To increase capacity, we have secured 

Page 37



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

and retained 2 contract officers who are food qualified. New officers will be required to undertake 
the food module as part of their qualification. 
  
Background: Local Government Re-organisation  
This has been undertaken in the last 12 months while the Covid-19 pandemic has been ongoing. 
The County Trading Standards Service has been disaggregated across North and North 
Northamptonshire unitary councils. Management focus has been to ensure that both new Services 
transitioned as a safe and legal authority on Vesting Day. This also impacted on officers delivering 
food controls to a lesser extent. The process of transformation will now be undertaken in the next 
12- 24months resulting in trading standards becoming part of the new Regulatory Services.  
  
Background: Brexit  
The impact of the EU exit has not yet been felt by the Service. There are still dates which may 
impact on the smaller teams going forward into 2021/22 but they are not as yet quantifiable. 
  

Background: Covid-19 outbreak and Intervention visits 

Due to the Covid-19 pandemic the need for routine food standards inspections was evaluated in 
light of prevailing FSA Guidance as it developed throughout the year. 
The prioritisation advised by FSA was found to be very much in line with our own vigilant 
management of scarce resources following Service cutbacks in recent years. 
  
  
Issues dealt with in 2020/21 included: 
Formal investigations concluded 

 Op Nightingale – a prosecution resulting from a complaint of an allergic reaction to a 
takeaway meal requested to be peanut free; sentencing was postponed until November 2020 
due to the COVID-19 national lockdown. The Company and Director pleaded guilty at the first 
hearing. The Company was fined £10,000 and the Director received a 4 months’ custodial 
sentence, suspended for 24 months, with 40 hours’ community service to be completed 
within 12 months. Costs of £5,500 were awarded. The case received local media coverage 
which was picked up and shared by the campaign group ‘Allergy Action’. 

 Op Aldaniti – Company & Director signed a Simple Caution in June 2020 [due to a 
recognition of the issues and instigation of more robust controls] having sold takeaway meal 
requested to be egg-free but found to contain egg during an allergen project undertaken by 
the service in late 2019. 

 Incident 365955 – a serious allergen incident involving a schoolchild with multiple allergen 
diet requirements during a lunchtime in November 2020. The investigation closed in April 
2021 inconclusive beyond all reasonable doubt as to the cause or the offender.  

  
Formal investigations in progress 

Two investigations are continuing, both relate to Food businesses in North Northamptonshire: 

 Op Australia an investigation resulting from the allergen project work after business advice 
had been given previously. Milk was found to be present in a meal requested to be milk-free. 
The Company are pleading not guilty, and the case is scheduled to be heard in February 
2022. 

 Incident 369416 investigation resulting from a complaint of an allergic reaction to a takeaway 
meal requested to be milk-free in March 2021. 

   
Food Alerts for Action 

Only one was received [Ref: FSA-FAFA-01-2021] during the year and any action necessary was 
taken. 
 

Page 38



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

  
Supporting businesses 

The Service operates the Primary Authority Partnership Scheme. Northamptonshire County Council 
had 21 food PA Partnerships.  

 37 requests for advice for food and 6 for feed were completed in 2020/21  

 26 requests for food and 9 for feed were completed from business requesting non PA 
business advice.  

  
Officers working from home during the pandemic were able to allocate more time to reviewing the 
trading standards premise database and updating it with information from Food Business Operator’s 
registrations from all areas of the County, clearing the backlog of over 600 outstanding registrations. 
 
 

1. Feed Summary 
Feed hygiene, together with hygiene requirements in the primary production of food, continue to be 
the focus of animal feed interventions. It is closely related to farm animal health and welfare 
complaints and they are often considered together.  The pandemic brought a slow start to the 
planned inspections.  In-line with the Food Standards Agency guidelines and the County Councils 
local decisions, visits were carried out remotely which was a new way of working for all.  A number 
of the visits required a focussed follow up onsite visit and remain to be completed in 2021/2022.  
The requests for registration dipped slightly as there were fewer inspections carried out by the 
Assurance Schemes (which often prompt registrations). There was however a slight increase of 
small pet food manufacturers and some businesses requiring registration as a result of EU Exit.  
 

 
 
  

Page 39



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

Annex 3 
 
LEGISLATION ENFORCED  
 
North Northamptonshire Council has a statutory duty to enforce the majority of consumer protection 
and fair trading legislation. Additional legislation is enforced where it contributes to achieving the 
aims and objectives of the Service and Unitary Council. The Service enforces over 70 Acts of 
Parliament, over 1000 associated Regulations and Orders, and a substantial range of directly 
applicable EC regulations under the European Communities Act 1972. 
 
Accommodation Agencies Act 1953 
Administration of Justice Act 1970 
Agriculture Act 1970 
Agriculture (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1968 
Agricultural Produce (Gradings and Marking) Acts 1928 and 1931 
Animal Health Act 1981 
Animal Health Act 2002 
Animal Welfare Act 2006 
Anti-social Behaviour Act 2003 
Business Names Act 1985 
Cancer Act 1939 
Children and Families Act 2014 (in respect of Sections 91 to 94 only) 
Children and Young Persons Act 1933 
Children and Young Persons (Protection from Tobacco) Act 1991 
Clean Air Act 1993 
Clean Neighbourhoods and Environment Act 2005 
Climate Change Act 2008 (in respect of Single Use Carrier Bag charges only) 
Companies Act 2006 
Consumer Credit Acts 1974 and 2006 
Consumer Protection Act 1987 
Consumer Rights Act 2015 
Control of Pollution Act 1974 
Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 
Criminal Justice Act 1988 (in respect of sales of knives to young people) 
Development of Tourism Act 1969 
Dogs Act 1906 
Education Reform Act 1988 
Energy Act 1976 
Energy Conservation Act 1981 
Enterprise Act 2002 
Estate Agents Act 1979 
Explosives Acts 1875. 
Explosives (Age of Purchase etc.) Act 1976 
Fair Trading Act 1973 
Farm and Garden Chemicals Act 1967 
Fireworks Act 2003 
Food Act 1984 
Food and Environment Protection Act 1985 
Food Safety Act 1990 
Forgery and Counterfeiting Act 1981 
Fraud Act 2006 
Hallmarking Act 1973 

Page 40



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

Health and Safety at Work etc Act 1974 (relating to explosives, petroleum and the classification, 
packaging and labelling of dangerous substances) 
Housing Act 2004 
Insurance Brokers (Registration) Act 1977 
Intoxicating Substances (Supply) Act 1985 
Knives Act 1997 
Licensing Act 1964 
Licensing Act 2003 
London Olympic Games and Paralympic Games Act 2006 
Medicines Act 1968 
Malicious Communications Act 1988 
Motor Cycle Noise Act 1987 
Motor Vehicles (Safety Equipment for Children) Act 1991 
National Lottery etc. Act 1993 
Offensive Weapons Act 1996 
Olympic Symbol etc. (Protection) Act 1995 
Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925 
Petroleum (Consolidation) Act 1928 
Petroleum (Transfer of Licences) Act 1936 
Prices Act 1974. 
Proceeds of Crime Act 2002 
Protection from Harassment Act 1997 
Protection of Animals Act 1911 
Public Health Acts 1936 and 1961 
Road Traffic Act 1988 
Road Traffic (Foreign Vehicles) Act 1972 
Solicitors Act 1974 
Telecommunications Act 1984 
Theft Acts 1968 and 1978 
Timeshare Act 1992 
Tobacco Advertising and Promotion Act 2002 
Trade Descriptions Acts 1968 
Trade Marks Act 1994 
Unsolicited Goods and Services Acts 1971 and 1975 
Video Recordings Acts 1984 and 1993 
Weights and Measures Act 1985 
 
Any orders or Regulations or other instruments (whether dated before or after the date of execution 
of this delegation) i) made thereunder or ii) having effect by virtue of the European Communities Act 
1972 (where such orders or Regulations specify the Unitary Council as having an enforcement duty 
(including references to a feed authority, food authority and local weights and measures authority))  
 
Any offence under legislation, or at common law, which is of a similar nature including offences of 
aiding, abetting, counselling and procuring, incitement, conspiracy, perverting the course of justice, 
criminal attempts, assisting or encouraging another person to commit an offence or participation in a 
crime. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



  Appendix B 

 

   

 

 
 

Annex 4  
 

 

Page 42



Appendix C 
 

Activity 
 

 

Actions Completi
on date/ 
Review 

date 

Outputs Outcome Lead 
Respons

ibility 
(Assist) 

Public Health 
England 
Outcome 

Impact Better 
Business for 

All 

 
 

1 
 

Review of Food 

Procedures 

 
To review and where 
appropriate consolidate food 
hygiene procedures 
 

March 22 Procedures 

Consistent and 

current 

procedures for 

working across 

Northamptonshi

re 

SE No direct PHE link  

 
Implementation 
of systems 
which support 
food businesses 

Set up export 

subgroup group 

 
To provide expert advice and 
support across 
Northamptonshire and put in 
place systems and procedures 
for all types of export 
certification: 
 

 Non-EU export 
certificates 
(attestations) 
 

 Export certification of 
HRFNAO 

 

 Other Export Health 
Certificates which can 
only be authorised by 
EH practitioners for fish 
and fish products and 
composite products 
containing fish or egg 
products 

 

ongoing 
Systems and 

procedures 

Support 

economic 

growth, 

especially small 

business by 

ensuring a fair, 

responsible & 

competitive 

trading 

environment 

after EU exit 

SE No direct PHE link 

New 
procedures to 
reflect post-EU 
withdrawal 
legislative 
changes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
. 
Implementation 
of new systems 
which support 
food businesses 

Implement the 

FSA Covid-19 

LA Recovery 

Plan 

 
 
 
Understand and implement the 
FSA Covid-19 Recovery Plan 
 
 
 

Ongoing 

Inspections in 

accordance with 

the recovery plan 

Inspection ‘re-

set’ effectively 

removing 

inspection 

backlog 

ALL 
No direct link with 
the County 
priorities 

A realistic 
delivery 
framework that 
is fit for 
purpose and 
provides 
flexibility 

 
Implementation 
of realistic 
delivery 
framework for 
interventions 
which support 
food businesses 
 

Review of the 
Eat Out Eat Well 
Scheme 

 
Consider the viability of the 
scheme post Covid and 

March 
2022 

Healthy Eating 
advice, menu 
changes to 

Reduction in 
diabetes and 
Obesity 

SE 
 

 Indicator 2.12 
(Excess weight 

High potential 
impact by 
targeting 

 
Provides food 
businesses with 

P
age 43

A
ppendix 



Appendix C 
 

Activity 
 

 

Actions Completi
on date/ 
Review 

date 

Outputs Outcome Lead 
Respons

ibility 
(Assist) 

Public Health 
England 
Outcome 

Impact Better 
Business for 

All 

 
 

2 
 

develop options for 
consideration 
 

healthier products 
in caterers. 
Training of 
caterers to get 
gold award 

Reducing fat 
intake, salt 
intake in catered 
foods.  Increase 
in consumption 
of healthy foods 
in caterers 

reduction in 
adults) 

 Indicator 2.17 
(Diabetes) 

 Indicator 4.03 
Mortality from 
preventable 
causes 
 

workplace food 
offers,  

the opportunity 
to showcase 
and market their 
healthy choices 
offer.  
 
 

Food Safety 
Service plan 

 
To produce and publish Food 
Safety and Food Standards 
Service Plans for North and 
West Northamptonshire in 
accordance with the FSA’s 
Covid-19 recovery plan and 
the Framework Agreement 
 

Septemb
er 21 

Food Safety and 
Standards Plan 

 
Delivery of the 
plan will ensure 
businesses are 
complaint with 
the law, 
business are 
supported and 
public health is 
protected 
 

SE 
(North) 
EC 
(West) 

No direct PHE 
link 

Compliance 
with the Food 
Law COP and 
Framework 
agreement and 

 
Implementation 
of realistic 
delivery 
framework for 
interventions 
which support 
food businesses 
 

Increase 
awareness of  
food businesses 
in relation to 
compliance with  
food allergens 
legislation  
 

During programmed food 
inspections and relevant 
reactive interventions at food 
businesses monitor for 
compliance with allergens 
legislation. 
 
Ensure focus on PPDS on the 
implementation of Natasha’s 
law from October 21 and that 
know culprits are targeted. 
 

Ongoing 

Allergens advice 
and guidance 
given 
 
Enforcement 
action where 
necessary 

Consumer 
protection 
against 
contaminated 
food 

ALL 
No direct PHE link   
 

Increased 
compliance 
within food 
businesses 
 
Reduced 
incidence of 
allergen 
related illness 
 

 
Provide a level 
playing field for 
competing food 
businesses 
through 
implementation 
of legal 
requirements 
 

 
Explore ways to 
work more 
closely with 
Trading 
Standards 
 
 
 
 
 

Explore ways to work more 
closely with Trading Standards 
 

Ongoing 

Systems and 
procedures for 
sharing of 
resources and 
intelligence 

Efficiencies 
through joined 
up working, 
sharing of 
expertise, 
intelligence and 
resources and 
economies of 
scale 

SE 
SD 

No direct PHE link  

 
 
Implementation 
of joined up 
systems which 
support 
businesses 

P
age 44



Appendix C 
 

Activity 
 

 

Actions Completi
on date/ 
Review 

date 

Outputs Outcome Lead 
Respons

ibility 
(Assist) 

Public Health 
England 
Outcome 

Impact Better 
Business for 

All 

 
 

3 
 

 
Undertake food 
competency 
framework for 
enforcement 
officers across 
Northamptonshi
re 

Implement the requirements in 
line with the COP 

March 22 
Documented 
competency 
framework 

Documented 
compliance with 
FLCOP 

SE/All No direct link N/A 

 
 
 
N/A 

 
 
 

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



                                    

 

 
 
 

Executive Advisory Panel 
Service Delivery, Performance and Customers  

 
1st November 2021 

 

 

 
List of Appendices 
 
None. 
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1. The purpose of this report is to seek comment from the Service Delivery, 

Performance and Customers Executive Advisory Panel to inform the decision 
of Executive in regard to the commencement of a procurement project for a 
contract for the haulage and treatment of dry recycling material (DRM) collected 
as part of the Council’s kerbside waste collection. 

 
 

2. Information 

 
2.1 North Northamptonshire Council (NNC) is committed to delivering a high-quality 

waste collection service. As part of the Council’s statutory duties for waste it is 
required to provide a separate collection of paper, plastics, metal and glass as 
a minimum. 

 
 
3. Recommendations 

 
3.1 It is recommended that the Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 

Executive Advisory Panel:  
 

Report Title 
 

Procurement of contract for the haulage and treatment 
of kerbside collected dry recycling material 
 

Report Authors Graeme Kane 
Assistant Director: Highways and Waste 
graeme.kane@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 

Executive Member Councillor Graham Lawman, Executive Member for 
Highways, Travel & Assets 
 

Item no: 

6 
  
 
 

Page 47

Agenda Item 6



a) Considers the commencement of procurement of a contract for the haulage 
and treatment of kerbside collected dry recycling material; and  
 

b) Provides feedback to the Executive to inform their decision making at its 
meeting on 18th November 2021 

 
 
4. Report Background 

 
4.1 NNC as a unitary authority has a responsibility as a Waste Disposal Authority 

and has a statutory duty to plan for the treatment and disposal of residual 
municipal waste which includes the collection and disposal of DRM. NNC 
spends approximately £2.6m on the treatment and disposal of approximately 
35,000 tonnes of DRM per annum. 
 

4.2 The Council currently has a variety of contractual arrangements in place for the 
processing of DRM, all of which terminate either late 2021 or early 2022, and as 
such it is required to seek a new arrangement which covers all the waste 
operational areas and meets with NNC’s requirements for ethical treatment and 
disposal of materials arising from NNC’s kerbside collection service.  
 

4.3 It is proposed that a new contract will be for a period of three years and will 
contain the ability to extend for up to two twelve-month periods, giving a total 
contract length of five years. 
 

4.4 Processing capacity for this material is at a premium within the UK and as such 
suppliers will seek waste streams that present the optimum quality for 
processing within their facilities. Recyclate that is contaminated with organic 
material, food waste and other offensive materials is not considered desirable 
as contaminants significantly affect the financial yield available for each 
commodity.  This in turn affects the processing costs and reduction in 
efficiencies in the operation of materials recycling facilities and will impact on 
the price per tonne levied back to NNC for material sent for treatment. 

 
4.5 In order to maximise the quality of the recycling material collected from 

households, the authority provides the appropriate containers as well as 
information to support and encourage residents to separate and present their 
recycling appropriately. Communications are continually reviewed and 
distributed to encourage this behaviour from residents. 

 
 
5. Issues and Choices 

 
5.1 Officers have reviewed the existing contract arrangement in conjunction with 

colleagues from both legal and procurement teams and there is no scope to flex 
or extend existing arrangements. 

 
5.2 NNC is required to provide collections for municipal household waste which 

includes separate arrangements for dry recycling. 
 
5.3 NNC could procure a contract for a longer or shorter period. However, the 

recommended length is common and familiar within this market as it provides 
the authority with certainty that they will have an operator as well as providing 

Page 48



the operator with certainty of supply over a time period for which they can plan 
their operations. A longer period can reduce NNC’s ability to reassess the 
market and reconsider their position. A balance is therefore required to find the 
optimum length; the additional extensions provide NNC with the ability to seek 
this optimum length.  

 
 

6. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
6.1 Resources and Financial 

 
6.1.1 There is a risk that the new contract price is greater than the current 

arrangements. This could result in a budget pressure. Alternatively, it could be 

lower than the current arrangements and result in reduced expenditure. This will 

not be known until the outcome of the procurement exercise. 

 
 
6.2 Legal  

 
6.2.1 The Environmental Protection Act 1990 requires local authorities to provide 

waste collections to households and the Waste (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2011 requires those collections to encompass arrangements to 
separately collect paper, metal, plastic and glass as a minimum. 
 

6.2.2 The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 requires contracts for supplies and 
services in excess of £189,330 to be tendered in accordance with the 
regulations by way of a tender process.  

 
 
6.3 Risk  

 
6.3.1 Loss of recycling processing and disposal facilities has been identified as a key 

risk for the waste management service and has been included in the corporate 
risk register. Procurement of a contract is one of the mitigating actions to reduce 
the likelihood and impact of this risk. 
 

6.3.2 There is a risk that any new contract may be more expensive per tonne than the 
existing arrangements. This can only be determined by carrying out a 
procurement exercise. Even if it is more expensive than the current 
arrangements, it will be the most cost-effective option that the authority can 
achieve given it is not able to extend the current arrangements.  

 
 
6.4 Consultation  

 
6.4.1 None  
 
 
6.5 Consideration by Scrutiny 

 
6.5.1 This item has not been considered through the scrutiny process. 

 

Page 49



 
6.6 Climate Impact 

 
6.6.1 By ensuring the authority has a contract in place for dry mixed recycling, they 

can continue to promote and encourage the separate collection and treatment 
of recyclable material. This approach seeks to reduce the environmental impact 
of waste disposal. In addition, by virtue of the contract arrangements the Council 
can monitor the onward transmission of material collected to ensure that it is 
ethically and environmentally managed in accordance with Waste Management 
legislation. 

 
 
6.7 Community Impact 

 
6.7.1 The recycling service is popular with residents who wish to ensure the 

environmental impact of their waste is reduced as much as possible. By putting 

in place a contract for dry mixed recycling, the authority can encourage and 

promote recycling, which provides all communities with the associated 

environmental and societal benefits.  

 
 
7. Background Papers 

 
7.1 None  

Page 50



                                    

 

 
 
 

Executive Advisory Panel 
Service Delivery, Performance and Customers  

 
1st November 2021 

 

Report Title 
  

North Northamptonshire Waste & Recycling Policy & 
Street Cleansing Policies 
 

Report Authors Graeme Kane, Assistant Director: Highways and Waste 

  

Executive Member Councillor Graham Lawman, Executive Member for 
Highways, Travel & Assets.  
  

  

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Household Waste & Recycling Policy 
Appendix B – Street Cleansing Policy 
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1. The purpose of this report and attached documents are to seek comments from 

the Service Delivery, Performance and Customers Executive Advisory Panel to 
inform the Executive decision in relation to the approval of the following 
documents:  
 

 North Northamptonshire Waste and Recycling Policy 

 North Northamptonshire Street Cleansing Policy 
 

1.2. These policies were drafted as a whole Council document ready for vesting day 
and approved in principle by Shadow Executive in February 2021, however 
following some updates and amendments require Executive approval. 

 
 
2. Information 

 
2.1 This report summarises the main policies for waste, recycling and street 

cleansing services delivered across North Northamptonshire.  The policies 
agreed by the Shadow Executive in February 2021 were developed to create a 
set of harmonised standards for waste, recycling and street cleansing.  
Following implementation over the last six months, the policies have been 
reviewed and minor amendments made.  In addition, a proposed process to 
deal with wheeled bins left on streets is incorporated.   

Item no: 

7 
  
 
 

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



 
2.2 The attached policy documents cover several service areas and the policies 

associated with delivering these services.  These include: 
 

 Residual waste collection 

 Recycling  

 Food waste 

 Garden waste 

 WEEE (waste electrical and electronic equipment) collections 

 Bulky waste collections 

 Commercial / trade waste 

 Clinical waste 

 Household Waste Recycling Centres 

 Street Cleansing 
 

2.3 There are still some policies which require further work to harmonise.  Further 
information on these is detailed later in the report. 

 
 
3. Recommendations 

 
3.1 It is recommended that the Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 

Executive Advisory Panel:  
 
a) Considers the Household Waste and Recycling and Street Cleansing 

Policies; and  
 

b) Provides feedback to the Executive to inform their decision making at its 
meeting on 18th November 2021 

 
 

4. Report Background 

 
4.1 The Waste and Recycling Policy and Street Cleansing Policy were developed 

to ensure that on vesting day, North Northamptonshire had a set of harmonised 
policies in relation to these services where possible as there had previously 
been several differing policies in place. 
 

4.2 The harmonisation of the policies ensured there was a clearly defined set of 
policies and standards across the service to avoid uncertainty for residents, 
customers, Elected Members and Officers of NNC.  
 

4.3 By harmonising policies and standards where possible it has allowed the 
development of consistent communications messages and promotion of 
services and tries to minimise confusion for residents with different services 
being delivered in different areas.  

 
 
5. Issues and Choices 

 
5.1 Where possible the policies were harmonised and implemented on 1st April 

2021, however due to some contractual arrangements and different service 

Page 52



delivery methods some services were unable to be harmonised and will require 
key decisions from Members on their future operation.  In particular, food waste 
collections (currently operated in East Northamptonshire and Corby areas), and 
garden waste collections (currently a paid-for service in East Northamptonshire, 
but not in the other areas). 

 
5.2 It is proposed that further reports will be brought to Executive on the garden 

waste and the food waste services. Proposals for these services will also need 
to be considered in line with any outcomes from the Government’s recent 
consultation on the future operation of these services by Councils. 

 
5.3 The previous report to Shadow Executive included within the waste policies a 

proposal to harmonise the WEEE collection service (currently offered in the East 
Northamptonshire area) across North Northamptonshire on a phased basis. 
Further work on the implementation of this service has shown that there will be 
financial implications to introducing this service. These are detailed in section 
6.1.2.    

 
 
6. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
6.1 Resources and Financial 

 
6.1.1 This report and policies do not address the need to harmonise the food waste 

and garden waste services. Further reports on these services will be brought 
back for consideration by Members and will include financial impacts of any 
future changes proposed.  
 

6.1.2 The introduction of small WEEE collections within Corby and Kettering areas 
will incur processing and disposal costs. Based on the service currently 
operating in East Northamptonshire and dependant on participation this is 
estimated to be approximately £25-£30k per annum. The cages required for the 
service are already on the collection vehicles in this area so no adaption to 
vehicles is required. In addition, we have applied for an external grant for 
funding to promote the introduction of this scheme in 2022. 
 

6.1.3 If the service is rolled out in the Wellingborough area at a later date there will 
be additional disposal costs and the cost of cages on the collection vehicles 
when they are replaced (the current vehicles are not suitable), as well as 
promotional costs. 

 

6.1.4 Alternatively, the collection service for small WEEE could be withdrawn in East 

Northamptonshire to harmonise the service across North Northamptonshire. 

This could result in this material which is potentially hazardous being disposed 

of in the residual waste bin rather than being responsibly processed. 

 

 

6.2 Legal  
 

6.2.1 There are no legal implications arising from the proposals. The powers relied 
on are provided by the Environmental Protection Act 1990, the Localism Act 
2011 and other relevant legislation. 

Page 53



6.3 Risk  
 

6.3.1 There are no significant risks arising from the proposed recommendations in 
this report. 

 
 
6.4 Consultation  

 
6.4.1 The public have not been consulted during the production of these proposals as 

they make minor amendments to the previously agreed proposals and have 
been designed to ensure we meet our statutory requirements for these services.  

 
 
6.5 Consideration by Scrutiny 

 
6.5.1 This report has not been considered by Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  

 
 
6.6 Climate Impact 

 
6.6.1 The policies have been developed to take into account the waste hierarchy, 

encouraging waste minimisation and encouraging waste to be recycled rather 
than disposed of. 
 

6.6.2 The street cleansing policies are designed to remove fly tipping, graffiti and fly 
posting speedily to discourage further dumping and other postings. 
 
 

6.7 Community Impact 
 

6.7.1 Waste and recycling services are essential to support a safe and healthy 

environment in which to live. These policies seek to maintain and promote a 

healthy, safe, and environmentally sustainable community. 

 
 
7. Background Papers 

 
7.1 None. 

 

Page 54



Appendix A 

1 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 
 

Waste & Recycling 
Policy 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

October 2021 Version 0.1 
 

www.northnorthants.gov.uk   

  

Page 55

Appendix 

http://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/
http://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/


Appendix A 

2 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

Document Version Control 
 
Author (Post holder title): Service Development Manager 
Type of document: Policy 
Version Number: V0.1 NNC 
Document File Name: Waste & Recycling Policy 
Issue date: 13 October 2021 
Approval date and by who (CMT / committee): Executive, 18th November 2021 
Document held by (name/section): Beth Gordon, Waste 
For internal publication only or external also – Internal and External 
Document stored on Council website or Intranet – Council website 
Next review date: October 2022 
 

Change History 
 

Issue Date Comments 

V0.1 13.10.21 Draft for approval.  Document transferred to NNC template and 
updated 

 
NB: Draft versions 0.1 - final published versions 1.0 
 

Consultees 
 

Internal External 

e.g. Individual(s) / Group / Section e.g. Stakeholders / Partners /Organisation(s) 

  

  

  

 
 

Distribution List 
 

Internal External 

e.g. Individual(s) / Group / Section e.g. Stakeholders / Partners /Organisation(s) 

  

  

  

 
 

Links to other documents 
 

Document Link 

  

  

  

  

 
 

  

Page 56



Appendix A 

3 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

Contents 
 

Section Page 

1.0 Introduction/foreword 4 

2.0 Scope 4 

3.0 Policy outcomes 4 

4.0 Name of strategy/policy 4 

5.0 Next steps 4 

Schedule 1 – Waste Collection Services 6 

Schedule 2 – Household Waste Recycling Centres 20 

Schedule 3 – Other Waste Services 28 

 
 
  

Page 57



Appendix A 

4 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 

1.0 Introduction / foreword 
 
1.1  North Northamptonshire Council’s Joint Waste and Recycling Policy aims to ensure that refuse and 

recycling services are provided in an effective and efficient manner in order to maximise recycling and 
reduce the amount of waste disposed of. 

 

2.0 Scope 
 
2.1 The Council has a statutory duty under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 to collect household 

waste.  The legislation allows us to specify a number of requirements around waste collections 
including 

 Specifying the size and type of receptacle 

 Where the receptacle should be placed for collection 

 Steps the occupier should take to facilitate collection of waste receptacles  
 
2.2 There are also requirements in the Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011 requiring the 

collection of certain recyclable materials from households. 
 
2.3 The Environmental Protection Act also requires the Council to provide places at which residents in 

its area may deposit their waste, referred to as Household Waste Recycling Centres (HWRC’s) in 
North Northamptonshire. 

 
2.4 These policies have been designed to meet our statutory obligations in relation to waste collection 

and recycling.  
 
 

3.0 Policy outcomes 
 
3.1  The intention of this policy document is to ensure there are clearly defined policies and standards in 

relation to the collection and disposal of waste and recyclable materials, and the operation of Household 
Waste Recycling Centres by the Council to avoid uncertainty for residents, customers, Elected 
Members and Officers of the Council.  

 
3.2 The policies have been designed taking into account the waste hierarchy, looking to prevent waste 

production where possible. If waste is produced, re-use it, then recycle it, then recover it (e.g. for energy 
recovery) and finally dispose of it. 

 
 

4.0 Waste and Recycling Policy 
 
4.1  The polices are detailed in Appendices to the document due to their length and complexity.  The 

following policy documents are included 
 

 Schedule 1 – Waste Collection Services 

 Schedule 2 – Household Waste Recycling Centres 

 Schedule 3 – Other Waste Services  
 

5.0 Next steps 
 
5.1 Once agreed the policy documents will be published on the Council’s website to ensure that they 

are available for reference. 
 

Page 58



Appendix A 

5 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

5.2 Any future communications around waste and recycling will incorporate key messages from the 
policies as appropriate. 

 

  

Page 59



Appendix A 

6 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

Schedule 1 – Waste Collection Services 
 
 

1.0 Bin provision 
  

1.1 Standard service for individual domestic properties 
  

The following types of bins are provided*: 

Service 

Type 

Container 

type 

Standard provision Provision of extra 

receptacles 

Residual 

domestic 

waste 

Black 

wheeled bin 

1 x 180l bin  

(Any existing 240l 

bins or other sized 

bins will be replaced 

with a 180l bin as 

appropriate when 

lost, damaged or 

unrepairable). 

No further bins will be 

provided free of charge, 

except in certain 

circumstances 

(Schedule 1, sections 

1.5 & 26). Additional 

unauthorised bins will 

be removed.  

Comingled 

Recycling  

Blue bin or 

blue lidded 

bin  

  

1 x 240l bin Additional bins / 

capacity will be provided 

free of charge upon 

request to encourage 

recycling. 

Garden 

waste  

Colour as 

per existing 

council 

arrangement 

CBC/KBC – 

green bin 

WBC – 

brown bin (9 

month of the 

year 

collection) 

ENC – 

brown lidded 

bin 

  

1 x 240l bin 

(chargeable in East 

Northamptonshire) 

Additional bins / 

capacity will be provided 

free of charge upon 

request in Corby, 

Kettering and 

Wellingborough. 

  

Residents in East 

Northamptonshire 

Council area are 

charged for this 

collection. Please see 

https://www.east-

northamptonshire.gov.u

k/gardenwaste 

for further information 

on the service and 

charges. Additional bins 

can be provided for 

which the subscription 

charge will be 

applicable. 

  

Page 60

https://www.east-northamptonshire.gov.uk/gardenwaste
https://www.east-northamptonshire.gov.uk/gardenwaste
https://www.east-northamptonshire.gov.uk/gardenwaste


Appendix A 

7 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

Food waste 

(Corby / 

East 

Northants 

Residents 

Only) 

External 

food caddy 

(Green) 

Internal 

kitchen 

caddy 

(Silver) 

1 x 23l caddy 

  

1 x 5l caddy 

Please call to discuss 

additional requirements 

– Corby / East 

Northants areas only 

  

  

*Council’s will be using up existing stock of wheeled bins before purchasing new bins in  line 

with the colours specified above. 

 

Only official local authority issued receptacles will be emptied. 

  

1.2  Sack Collections 
Sack collections will only be provided where the property is not suitable to accommodate 

wheeled bins or as determined by a Council Officer based on circumstantial need. 

 

The standard service for households that remain on sack collections will allow a maximum of 

two sacks per collection (refuse and recycling). This will also be a kerbside collection. Large 

families of five persons or more permanently residing at a property will be allowed four sacks 

per week on request. Requests must be made in writing and will be reviewed annually.  

 

Households that remain on sack collections will have them delivered at regular frequencies 

and will be provided with the correct amount. No other sacks will be collected except Council 

provided ones without prior agreement. 

  
1.3 Flats 

The preferred method of collection is communal bins but we will consider alternatives if due 

to reasons of storage capacity or access it is not possible to provide or safely empty 

communal bins. 

 

The capacity provided per flat will be as follows (either in communal or individual bins): 

Refuse – 180l 

Recycling – 240l 

  

1.3.1 Food waste provision - flats 
Some flat properties are able to participate in the food waste recycling scheme (where 

provided).  Participation in the food waste scheme will be determined on an individual basis.  

An individual kitchen caddy and communal bin (normally located in a bin storage area) is 

provided.  The size (normally 140l or 180l) and number of the communal bins will depend on 

the number of flats in the block. These bins will be shared between a number of properties. 

 

1.4 Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMO’s) 
Bin capacity provided will be based on the number of Council Tax bills for the property. 

Where there is only 1 council tax bill for the property 1 x 180l refuse bin will be provided. 

Where there are a number of council tax bills, the property will be assessed for the provision 

of communal bins rather than individual bins using the capacity detailed in Schedule 1, 

section 1.3 (flats).  

Page 61



Appendix A 

8 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

  

1.5 Larger Households 
For properties with 5 or more permanent residents or 2 children in nappies consideration will 

be given to providing additional refuse capacity free of charge if required.  Each case will be 

assessed on an individual basis; a waste audit carried out and if and additional capacity is 

provided, will be subject to annual review and may be removed at any point if it is abused or 

the property is no longer eligible. 

 

A second recycling bin may be provided before an additional refuse bin is provided if the 

additional waste is mainly recyclable. 

  

1.6 Places of Worship 
Waste and recycling arising from places of worship is treated as ordinary household waste 

and are entitled to the standard service as detailed in Schedule 1, section 1.1 and collected 

on the same frequency. 

 

If the premise hires out such buildings to other persons not connected with the conduct of 

religious worship (e.g., playgroup, social events), this is a commercial activity and a charge 

for collection and disposal will be made in these circumstances. 

 

Examples of premises which are classified as places of worship are Anglican churches, 

Baptist churches, Buddhist temples, Congregational churches, Evangelical churches, 

Jehovah’s Witness kingdom halls, synagogue, mission centres, Methodist churches, Roman 

Catholic churches, Salvation Army halls, United Reform churches.  

  

1.7 Domestic properties also used for business 
Waste produced during any activity for gain or reward, whether on business or domestic 

premises, whilst self-employed or working for others is classed as commercial waste.   

Waste which is generated by a business at a residential property will not be collected 

through the household waste collection service. A separate arrangement can be made for 

the collection of this waste through the commercial waste service for which charges for 

collection and disposal will be made. 

  

1.8 Childminders 
If a childminder service is operating from any dwelling, the waste generated shall be 

contained within the bins and receptacles provided to the standard domestic service.  If 

excess waste is generated beyond the standard collection capacity provided, then it shall be 

treated as commercial waste. A separate arrangement can be made for the collection of this 

waste through the commercial waste service for which charges for collection and disposal 

will be made. 

 

2.0  Materials collected in wheeled bins / caddies / other services 
There are slightly different collection arrangements in North Northamptonshire Council 

areas.  The refuse, comingled recycling and garden waste collections have been 

harmonised and detailed below in section 2.1. 

 

The following are collections are only carried out in some areas: 

 Food waste – Corby and East Northamptonshire – see section 2.2 below for details of 

the materials collected.   

Page 62



Appendix A 

9 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE) – East Northamptonshire currently, 

Kettering and Corby will be introducing the service during 2022 and it is intended the 

service will be rolled out to the Wellingborough area at a later date (subject to funding 

being available).  See section 2.3 below for details of the items collected.  

 

2.1 Materials collected in the Residual, Comingled and Garden Waste bins  

  

This information applies all of North Northamptonshire (previously Borough Council of 

Wellingborough, Corby Borough Council, East Northamptonshire Council and Kettering 

Borough Council areas) 

 

RESIDUAL DOMESTIC 
(BLACK WHEELED 
BIN) 

COMINGLED 
RECYCLING BIN 
(GREEN OR BLUE 
BIN) 

GARDEN WASTE BIN 
(BROWN BIN) 

 General 
household rubbish 
which cannot be 
recycled or 
composted 

 Cat and dog 
waste (in a bag) 

 Nappies & 
incontinence pads 
(please wrap) 

 Polystyrene  

 Aerosols (empty) 

 Cans (aluminium 
& steel), tins 
(food, drink & pet 
food) 

 Card / cardboard 
(including 
greetings cards) 

 Catalogues 

 Directories  

 Envelopes  

 Foil (clean) 

 Glass bottles and 
jars 

 Greeting cards 

 Junk mail / flyers 
/ leaflets 

 Newspapers & 
magazines 

 Paper 

 Plastic bottles 

 Plastic packaging 
(food trays, fruit & 
vegetable 
punnets, ice 
cream tubs, 
yoghurt pots & 
margarine tubs) 

 Wrapping paper 
(no foil) 

 Flowers 

 Grass cuttings, 
plants and weeds 

 Hedge and shrub 
cuttings  

 Hutch bedding 

 Leaves  

 Plants 

 Prunings 

 Twigs / woody 
material (less than 
300mm/12 inches 
thickness) 

 Weeds 

  

  

Page 63



Appendix A 

10 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

2.2 Materials collected in the Food Waste Caddies (Corby Borough Council & East 
Northamptonshire Council areas only) 

  

FOOD WASTE (23l caddy) – this can be contained within a biodegradable 
liner or loose in your caddy 

  
  

 Bread, cakes and pastries 

 Cooking oils and fats (soak oils into newspapers) 

 Egg shells 

 Leftover food / out of date or mouldy food 

 Meat and fish – raw and cooked including bones 

 Nutshells  

 Tea bags and coffee grounds 

  
2.3 WEEE (Waste Electrical & Electronic Equipment) Collection Service (East 

Northamptonshire area only) 
 

WEEE (Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment) 
  
The following small household WEEE items are collected: 

 Hairdryers, hair straighteners, shavers, electric toothbrushes 

 Kitchen appliances such as toasters, kettles, hand blenders 

 DVD/CD players, radios, MP3 players and remote controls 

 Clocks, watches, calculators and torches 

 Telephones, cameras 

 Laptops 

 Small electrical DIY tools such as drills and electric screwdrivers 

 Toys (remote control car or drone) 

 Chargers 
  
Items should still have the cables attached and all batteries removed. 
  
Please leave any items for collection in a carrier bag by your wheeled bin on 
either your refuse or recycling collection day. 
  
Only small household items can be collected such as those listed above. 
  

  

It is intended to roll the service out to Corby and Kettering during 2022 (subject to funding) 

and Wellingborough at a later date when operationally possible. 

   

 2.4 Food Caddy Liners 
  

There is no provision for food caddy liners. Residents can use a fully biodegradable 

compostable liner which are marked as meeting the European standard for compostable 

packaging – EN13432. These are available for purchase in supermarkets and local shops.  

Alternatively, caddies can be lined with newspaper.  

Page 64



Appendix A 

11 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 

 

3.0 Items prohibited from the wheeled bins, boxes and caddies in all areas. 
  

RESIDUAL DOMESTIC 

BIN (BLACK 

WHEELED BIN) 

COMINGLED 

RECYCLING BIN  

 BCW – GREEN 

OR BLUE BIN 

 CBC – BLUE OR 

BROWN BIN 

 ENC – GREEN 

OR BLUE 

LIDDED BIN 

 KBC – BLUE 

BIN 

GARDEN WASTE BIN  

 BCW -BROWN 

BIN 

 CBC – GREEN 

BIN 

 ENC – BROWN 

LIDDED BIN 

 KBC -

GREEN/GREY 

BIN  

 Dry recyclables 
and compostable 
organic waste 
(that is accepted 
recycling bins / 
boxes) 

 Hot ashes  

 Car parts 

 Builders rubble / 
stones 

 Corrosive 
materials and 
liquids such as oil 
and paint 

 Soil / Turf 

 Fluorescent 
tubes / low 
energy light bulbs 

 Electrical and 
electronic 
equipment 

 Pesticides 

 Batteries 

 Commercial / 
trade waste 

 Plastic sacks 
(with or without 
recyclable waste 
in them) 

 Nappies & 
incontinence 
pads 

 Carrier bags 

 Textiles (clothes, 
bedding, duvets 
etc.) 

 Egg boxes 
(plastic) 

 Flower pots 

 Cling film 

 Food waste 

 Polystyrene 

 Broken toys 

 Any other plastics 
not listed in 
Schedule 1, 
section 2.1.  

  
  

 Green waste or 
food waste 
contained in any 
type of plastic 
bag 

 Any type of 
degradable / 
biodegradable 
bag/sack 
(including corn 
starch bags) 

 Garden items 
such as plastic 
flower pots / trays 

 Any items that 
should be in the 
recycling or 
residual domestic 
bins / boxes 

 Soil / turf 

 Stones / hardcore 
/ rubble 

 Large branches 
(over 300mm/12 
inches thickness) 

 Pieces of wood 
or fence panels 

FOOD WASTE (23l or 25l caddy - where provided) 
  

 Packaging of any sort 

 Plastic bags 

  

  

Page 65



Appendix A 

12 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 

4.0 Frequency of collection 
  

4.1 Standard Collection Service for Domestic Properties and HMO’s  
All wheeled bins provided on the standard service (see Schedule 1, section 1.1) are 

collected on an alternate weekly basis unless alternative arrangements have been agreed 

or for operational arrangements e.g., to facilitate Christmas collections.  

 

The garden waste collection service in the Borough Council of Wellingborough only runs for 

9 months of the year on an alternate weekly basis. We are looking to harmonise garden 

waste collections across North Northamptonshire in the future. 

 

Food waste caddies are collected weekly. 

  

4.2 Flats  
The standard collection frequency for flats is fortnightly (refuse and recycling) however it is 

recognised that due to limited storage in some locations; alternative arrangements may 

need to be agreed.  These will be assessed and agreed individually.  

  

5.0 Collection point  
Bins must be placed at the kerbside for collection. For the purpose of this policy the 

kerbside is where your property meets the public highway.  If properties are located down a 

private driveway / access road then the bins must be presented where the private access 

road / driveway meets the public highway. 

 

In a small number of cases due to the access or location of a property it may not be 

possible for residents to place bins near the public highway for collection. Each case will be 

looked at on an individual basis to agree suitable collection arrangements. 

  

6.0 Collection time 
Any bins or boxes must be placed at the kerbside by 6.30am on day of collection, unless 

the resident is eligible for an assisted collection. They must not be placed out any earlier 

than 6pm the night before collection. After emptying they must be removed from the 

highway no later than 8am the following morning.  

  

7.0 Collection day 
Information on your day of collection can be found on your Council website.  Any changes 

to collection days will be notified to residents in advance of any changes. 

 

8.0 Excess / Side waste 
The following arrangements apply in relation to excess / side waste 

 

8.1 Black residual domestic waste: 
Excess waste/side waste beside or piled on top of the black residual domestic wheeled bin 

will not be collected and will be recorded by the collection crew.  

 

8.2 Co-mingled recycling  
Additional recycling materials for the recycling bin will be collected as long as these are 

contained in a clear sack next to the bin, or in the case of cardboard flattened and placed 

Page 66



Appendix A 

13 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

next to the bin. Any excess waste put out for collection in black / or dark coloured sacks will 

not be collected. If you regularly produce excess recycling waste additional recycling 

capacity can be provided free of charge.   

 

8.4 Garden waste 
Excess waste will not be collected, with the exception of Christmas trees which can be 

placed next to your garden waste bin for collection. 

 

8.5 Food waste  
Excess waste is not collected and should be contained within your external food caddy. 

  

9.0 Bin lids 
Wheeled bins will only be collected if the bin lid is closed otherwise it will not be emptied. 

This is to limit the potential for waste to fall or blow out of the bin when it is being lifted by 

the bin lift.  

 

 10.0 Missed collections 

We will only return for missed collections reported within 72 hours of your scheduled 

collection day. Any missed collections reported after this time will not be collected until the 

next scheduled collection day unless there are exceptional circumstances agreed at the 

discretion of the Operations Manager. Missed collections will be collected within 48 hours of 

report. 

 

If the crew has reported the bin as not out at the time of collection or in the incorrect 

collection point we will not return to collect it before the next scheduled collection day. 

 

If the bin has been tagged or reported by the crew as too heavy we will not return to empty 

until your next scheduled collection day and the householder must have removed sufficient 

material to allow the bin to be safely emptied. 

 

If the bin has been tagged or reported by the crew as contaminated we will not return to 

empty until your next scheduled collection day and the householder must have removed the 

contaminated material for the bin to be emptied. Please see Schedule 1, section 11.0 for 

further information on contaminated bins. 

 

  

Page 67

https://ukc-word-edit.officeapps.live.com/we/wordeditorframe.aspx?ui=en%2DUS&rs=en%2DUS&wopisrc=https%3A%2F%2Fnnugov.sharepoint.com%2Fsites%2FNNC-HWMT%2F_vti_bin%2Fwopi.ashx%2Ffiles%2F12f4a357f2c34f4e8497fe3314a61dac&wdenableroaming=1&mscc=1&hid=3EB3F89F-2006-3000-3D6C-B4D31EE1C0BC&wdorigin=ItemsView&wdhostclicktime=1634118076494&jsapi=1&jsapiver=v1&newsession=1&corrid=23b4a752-f919-b13f-800e-282d00260c41&usid=23b4a752-f919-b13f-800e-282d00260c41&sftc=1&mtf=1&sfp=1&instantedit=1&wopicomplete=1&wdredirectionreason=Unified_SingleFlush&preseededsessionkey=184b23cf-6bf8-48d8-619e-4695d1b8d486&preseededwacsessionid=23b4a752-f919-b13f-800e-282d00260c41&rct=Medium&ctp=LeastProtected#_13.0_Contaminated_bins


Appendix A 

14 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

11.0 Contaminated bins  
The collection crew will tag and record contaminated bins.  The resident will need to 

remove the contaminant and put the bin out for collection on their next scheduled collection 

day. We will not return to collect it before then. Where a resident continually contaminates a 

bin, the Council will provide information and education to the resident. Should the issue 

continue will consider restrictions / enforcement action. 

 

The process for dealing with contaminated bins is detailed below: 

 

  
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

  

Has bin been previously 
contaminated in last 6 

months? 

Step 1 – Inform & 
Educate 

General letter and 
information leaflet sent 
to resident explaining 

correct use of bin 
 

Step 2 – Warning letter 
Further letter sent to property with 

information leaflet.  Advise property may 
receive visit from Council Officer to provide 

education and assistance  
 

Step 3 – Final Warning 
Letter sent to property advising that if 

contamination continues the bin may be 
removed or other enforcement actions taken 

Crew identify contamination – 
bin tagged and logged 

Page 68



Appendix A 

15 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 

 12.0 Bins left on street following collections 

 Where residents leave their wheeled bins on the street following collection and do not 

remove them in line with the requirements in Schedule 1, section 6.0, the Council will 

investigate. Any complaints received will follow the process below: 

 

   

 

 

  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Complaint received (anonymous complaints will not be accepted) 

Bin / area inspected, and bin/s tagged requiring removal 

If bin/s still on street a written warning letter will be sent requiring 
removal, explaining: 

 how they have failed to comply with the waste and recycling 
collection polices 

 how this has (or is likely to) cause a nuisance or have a nega-
tive effect on local amenities 

 what they must do and how long they’ve got to fix the problem 

 what will happen if they don’t comply (e.g., removal of bin, is-
suing of fixed penalty notice 

The householder will be advised to contact the Council to discuss their 
circumstances and any issues they have.  A site visit can be arranged to 
look at individual issues and provide further advice and information. 

If bin/s still on street final warning letter / notice of intent to serve a fixed 
penalty notice sent requiring removal of bin. The notice of intent will 
name the householder and tell them: 

 they may get a fixed penalty and why 

 how much they’ll have to pay 

 they have the right to explain why they shouldn’t have to pay 
the penalty within 28 days of the date on the notice 

If contact from the householder has not been received after stage 2, an 
officer will visit the location to try and discuss the situation with the 
householder.  

Stage 1 - 
Inform 

Stage 2 - 
Educate 

Where the bin continues to be inappropriately used it will be removed, 
and alternative collection arrangements put in place e.g., sack 
collections.   
Where residents put sacks other than council issued or other waste out 
for collection no in the right container they will be referred for 
investigation in relation to fly tipping. 

Stage 4 – 
removal of 
bin / final 

notice 

Stage 3 – 
Warning / 
Notice of 
Intent 

Page 69



Appendix A 

16 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Where a complaint relates to a number of properties / areas, these will be tackled in a 

coordinated approach and planned in with other service priorities. 

 

13.0 Assisted collections 

Residents who are unable to safely move a wheeled bin container or recycling box to the 

required collection point may qualify for an assisted collection by completing an application 

form, which is approved by an officer. Bins will be collected from your property, emptied and 

returned. 

 

These collections are designed for those that live alone and are unable to present their 

waste for collection for one of the following circumstances.   

 Permanent Infirmity 
 Temporary infirmity (following operations) 
 Disability 
 Inability to use other available aids (neighbours assistance)  

  

Where appropriate, evidence may be requested to prove eligibility to the service. As the 

service is specific to the applicant it will be necessary for the service to be periodically 

reviewed to ensure household circumstances do not change in a way that will affect 

eligibility. Customers no longer requiring assisted collections will be removed from the 

assisted collection list. 

 

Residents that have an able-bodied person living at the premises will be ineligible for an 

assisted collection.  Information will be verified and if false information has been given the 

service will be removed with immediate effect. 

  

14.0 Overweight bins 
Where a crew member cannot safely manoeuvre and position a wheeled bin onto the 

vehicle, or where the vehicle cannot lift the bin due to the weight of the bin, then it will be 

left un-emptied and reported by the collection crew. The vehicle bin lifts have a safe working 

weight limit which crews cannot override. 

 

Where any bin is found to be too heavy the householder will be required to remove 

sufficient material from the bin and dispose of it in a responsible manner. 

 

Once sufficient weight has been removed, the bin should be presented on the next 

scheduled collection date. We will not return to empty the bin before the next scheduled 

collection date. 

  

15.0 Damaged, lost or replacement bins / caddies 
Any wheeled bin or caddy that is damaged or destroyed by the Council’s equipment or staff, 

or vandalised by another party during the course of their work will be repaired or replaced 

free of charge.  The size of bin provided will be in line with this policy and may not be a like 

for like replacement. 

A fixed penalty notice (fee as stated in the Council’s fees and charges) 
may be issued (at least 28 days after the notice of intent). Any 
enforcement action will be taken in line with the Council’s Enforcement 
Policy. 

Stage 5 - 

enforcement 

Page 70



Appendix A 

17 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 

Any wheeled bin or caddy that is intentionally damaged or destroyed by the property owner 

must be replaced at their cost. 

 

Bins and caddies will not be replaced if they are in a serviceable condition, and it is the 

householder’s responsibility to clean them. Private companies are available to offer this 

service. The council does not offer a cleaning service or clean bins even if this was not the 

fault of the current resident. 

 

Where residual bins are lost or stolen from a property, they will be replaced with a 180 litre 

container, as appropriate regardless of whether a 240 litre bin was at the property 

previously.   

 

Replacement bins may not be new bins, as to encourage recycling and waste minimisation, 

bins which have been returned which are of an acceptable quality will be cleaned and re-

used. 

  

16.0 Provision of smaller bins 
Where space is limited or a resident requests, they can be provided with a smaller 180l 

wheeled bin for recycling or garden waste.  

  

17.0 Access issues 
Where we are unable to access a road for issues such as parked cars, roadworks, building 

works, road closures etc. we will attempt to return and collect the bins when we next have a 

collection crew in the area.  

  

18.0 Severe weather / extraordinary circumstances 
During severe weather / extraordinary circumstances (e.g., flooding, pandemics) we will: 

 Continue to undertake the regular scheduled collection of waste wherever it is deemed 
safe to do so.  

 The decision on whether it is safe for a refuse collection vehicle to access a specific 
location/street has to be determined locally by the driver of that vehicle. Among key 
factors that apply are road conditions, weather conditions, access past parked cars, 
risks to public and/or the crew. 

 We will try to return and collect missed bins as soon as possible after the scheduled 
collection date. If this is not possible due to continuing conditions, we may suspend 
some collections to enable us to prioritise collection of residual domestic waste. 

  

19.0 Bulky waste collections 
A bulky collection service is available to all domestic properties within North 

Northamptonshire. A maximum of 5 items can be collected on any one request.  This is a 

chargeable service.  

 

These collections are only for items that you would take with you when you move house not 

fixtures or fittings. A list of items that will be accepted as part of this service is available on 

the Council’s website. All items due for collection must be placed at the nearest access 

point to the road within your property boundary. If items are left outside, please ensure that 

they are covered in the event of rain. 

 

Page 71



Appendix A 

18 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

When attending if items are considered too big or heavy for an operative we have the right 

to refuse the service.  

 

Collection staff will not go onto private property to make collections unless there are 

exceptional circumstances, which have been agreed with the relevant department. 

 

If items are not available for collection on the agreed date a fee may be charged for a return 

visit. 48 hours cancellation notice must be given for any unwanted collections. If notice is 

not given or operatives arrive at the premises and no items are presented for collection, 

refunds will not be issued.  

 

20.0 Commercial / Trade Waste 
Any waste from a premise used for the purpose of a trade or business is classed as 

commercial waste and will be subject to a charge for residual and recycling waste.  Further 

information on can be found on your Council website for the services offered.  Information 

on your responsibilities as a business can be found here https://www.gov.uk/managing-

your-waste-an-overview.  

 

21.0 Waste from premises occupied by a club, society or other organisation 
Waste from these premises is treated as commercial waste and charges will apply to the 

collection and disposal of waste and recycling. 

 

22.0 Waste from residential homes 
Waste from these premises is treated as commercial waste and charges will apply to the 

collection and disposal of waste and recycling.   

 

23.0 Waste from a University, school, or other educational establishment 
Waste from these premises is treated as household waste. A charge for the collection and 

disposal of this waste is made as allowed under the Controlled Waste (England and Wales) 

Regulations 2012 for waste and recycling. 

 

24.0 Waste from Halls or premises used for public meetings (e.g., village hall, community 
centres) 
If the hall is used wholly or mainly for public meetings the waste produced is classed as 

“Household waste for which a charge for collection may be made”.  Waste from these 

premises will be subject to a collection charge for waste and recycling. 

 

25.0 Clinical waste 
Clinical waste is deemed as such by the Controlled Waste Regulations 2012 or by a 
medical professional such as a Doctor, Consultant or District Nurse. This waste may be 
hazardous to any person coming into contact with it and therefore must be collected and 
disposed of appropriately. 
  

25.1 Clinical waste produced by medical practitioners 
  

We are not responsible for the collection and disposal arrangements of clinical waste within 
the Council’s area, if the health authority is undertaking treatment of patients in the home. 
The health authority must ensure the necessary arrangements are in place for the 
collection/disposal of this waste themselves or by using a third-party contractor. 
  

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/managing-your-waste-an-overview
https://www.gov.uk/managing-your-waste-an-overview


Appendix A 

19 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

Charges apply to these clinical waste collections and cover the cost of collection and 
disposal of this waste.  
  
Where a medical body requests a clinical waste collection on behalf of a patient, they must 
provide details for invoices to be sent and changes will be made quarterly in arrears. 
  

25.2 Clinical waste produced by residents 
  

The Council can offer a free of charge collection and disposal service to those residents 
that are self-administering their treatment and produce clinical waste, such as needles, in 
their home.  A referral from the Health Care Authority will be required to provide the 
information needed to enable us to undertake the collections safely. This is to ensure the 
Council has details of the types of waste to be collected and the likely hazards. 

  

24.3 Clinical waste produced by a business 
  

Any other waste arising from medical, nursing, dental, veterinary, pharmaceutical, 
investigation, treatment, care teaching or research, or the collection of blood for transfusion, 
being waste which may cause infection to any person coming into contact with it will be 
required to be collected as clinical waste. Charges will be made at a commercial collection 
rate and will cover the cost of special disposal arrangements. 

  

26.0 Hygiene / Offensive waste 
Hygiene / offensive Waste is non-clinical waste which can comprise of sanitary towels, 

nappies and incontinence pads (known collectively as sanpro waste). This waste is not 

considered hazardous when it originates from a healthy population. Such waste produced by 

a domestic household should be triple wrapped and placed in the general waste container.  

If a large amount of offensive waste is being produced at a household an additional general 

180l bin can be supplied. The need for an additional bin in these circumstances will be 

assessed by an officer and each case will be looked at on an individual basis. The following 

circumstances will be considered:  

 Where one or more adults in the household have a condition that causes them to 
produce a large amount of incontinence pads, adult nappies, soiled clothing and/or 
bedding.  

 There are two or more children in the household wearing disposable nappies.  
 There are one or more children in the household with a medical condition that causes 

them to produce a large amount of nappies, soiled clothing and/or bedding.   
  
Householders or carers are required to complete an application form before the additional bin 

can be delivered and proof of eligibility may be required, in order to have a record of why the 

additional bin is being supplied. Bins issued on medical grounds or for children in nappies will 

be reviewed regularly and may require a visit from an officer for assessment, if deemed 

necessary.  

  
 

 

  

  

Page 73



Appendix A 

20 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

Schedule 2 – Household Waste Recycling Centres 
  

1.0 Site Locations and Hours of Opening 
  

There are four HWRCs in North Northamptonshire; Corby, Kettering, Rushden and 
Wellingborough. 

 
 

 
  

All sites are open 5 days a week (2 days closed on a rota), all sites are open on a Friday, 

Saturday and a Sunday. 

  

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

All sites are open 10:00 – 18:00 (summer and winter). 
  

If residents arrive before a site opens, they may be asked to move their vehicle if a traffic 
queue forms which blocks the highway.  
  

Page 74



Appendix A 

21 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

All sites are closed on Christmas Day, Boxing Day, New Year’s Day and will close at 2 pm 
on Christmas Eve. 

  

All sites are open on a bank holiday except where these fall on the centres closed days 
(see table above). 

  

2.0 Safety at Household Waste Recycling Centres 
  

The HWRCs are operational sites which are open to members of the public. Therefore, 

appropriate health and safety rules are enforced to ensure the safety of staff and residents. 

Site rules for residents / visitors to site require people to: 

 wear suitable clothing (no open toe footwear); 

 use gloves when handling sharp or heavy items; 

 place all items in the correct containers; 

 co-operate with staff and ask for assistance if needed; 

 bring someone along to the site if they are bringing heavy or awkwardly sized items; 

 keep children and animals inside your vehicle at all times; 

 observe the 5mph speed limit; 

 respect staff and other customers; 

 comply with all policies such as the e-permit and DIY waste restrictions; 

 pay for all commercial and chargeable household waste; 

 only park in marked bays or as directed by staff; 

 be alert when at a HWRC, and not to use mobile phones or cameras. 
Site staff will assist members of the public who request assistance provided that providing 
assistance will not put either the member of staff, the member of public or other site users 
at risk. 

 

3.0 Vehicles Access 
 

Commercial-type vehicles and cars towing a trailer (under 1.8m in length) require a free 

waste e-permit to use waste recycling centres. Please see Schedule 2, section 7.0 for more 

information. 

 

All vehicles over 3.5 tonnes laden weight and trailers over 1.8m in length are not allowed 

at any of the recycling centres. 

 

4.0 Pedestrian access 
 

For safety reasons pedestrian access is not permitted at any of the recycling centres. 

 

5.0 Materials Accepted at the HWRCs 
  

The HWRCs are provided for the primary purpose of enabling North Northamptonshire’s 

residents the free disposal of household waste from their homes (i.e., their normal place of 

residence). 

 

The following waste types can be recycled at the HWRCs: 

Page 75

https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/waste-and-recycling/Pages/waste-e-permit-scheme.aspx
https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/waste-and-recycling/Pages/waste-e-permit-scheme.aspx


Appendix A 

22 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 
 

*DIY restrictions apply – see Schedule 2, section 6.0. 

 

To reduce queues and to maximise recycling residents are asked to pre-sort their waste 

before visiting the HWRC. 

 

Gas bottles and Fire Extinguishers can be accepted at Corby, Kettering and Rushden sites 

only. 

 

Cooking oil - small amounts emptied into a 500ml bottle can also be put into the general 

waste bin at home. 

 

Residual household waste is any household waste that cannot be recycled. This waste will 

be sent to landfill or treatment which costs more money than recycling. 

 

The HWRC site staff may require additional verification about the source of waste brought 

to site for free disposal and they may ask residents to complete a declaration form. 

 

The site staff have discretion to refuse free disposal of waste at the HWRCs. 

Intimidating, threatening or abusive behaviour towards staff or other site users will not be 

tolerated.  Action may be taken to pursue offenders to prevent a recurrence. 

 

6.0 Materials that are restricted or NOT accepted at HWRCs 
  

The HWRCs do not accept asbestos, car tyres, whole cars, caravans, trailers, clinical waste 

and some types of hazardous waste.  

Page 76



Appendix A 

23 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 

 

Item Accepted at all sites Notes 

Asbestos No See Schedule 3, 
section 1.0 for 
Asbestos Disposal 
Scheme information 

Plasterboard Yes Specific policies apply 
to DIY waste. See 
restrictions at 
household waste 
recycling centres (link 
to policy). 

Chemical and 
radioactive hazardous 
waste* 

No Different restrictions for 
different waste streams 

Paint Yes Not widely promoted 
but water based paint 

Fire Extinguishers No Can be disposed of at 
selected sites only: 
Corby 

Kettering 

Rushden 

Weed Killer No The recycling centres 
do not have the correct 
chemical storage 
facilities so cannot 
accept weed killer. 

Antifreeze Yes Residents are advised 
to seek a member of 
staff for help. Must be 
domestic waste. 

Oil Filters (automotive) Yes Residents are advised 
to seek a member of 
staff for help. Must be 
domestic waste. 

Used engine oil Yes   

Caravans and Trailers No   

Car Tyres No Recycling Centres are 
not licensed to recycle 
tyres. Residents will 
need to find a private 
company to do this. 

Gas Bottles No Can be disposed of at 
selected sites only: 
Corby 

Kettering 

Rushden 

Clinical Waste and 
Sharps 

No Residents not able to 
dispose of sharps or 
hazardous clinical 

Page 77



Appendix A 

24 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

waste at the household 
waste recycling 
centres. Advised to 
contact doctor or local 
health authority for 
advice on disposal. 

Landlord’s waste No See restrictions at 
household waste 
recycling centres (link 
to policy). 

Trade Waste Yes – selected sites See restrictions at 
household waste 
recycling centres (link 
to policy). Can be 
disposed of at selected 
sites only: 
•           Kettering 

•           Rushden 

DIY Waste   See restrictions at 
household waste 
recycling centres (link 
to policy). 

  
  

6.1 Asbestos 
 

Asbestos and asbestos bonded materials cannot be disposed of at any of the HWRCs. 

Asbestos is a dangerous substance that can cause severe respiratory illness and must be 

disposed of with care. If a resident discovers asbestos or asbestos bonded materials in 

their home during building work or DIY activities the general advice is to leave it and consult 

with specialist companies. If the material is damaged or you have to remove it, you must 

make arrangements for its safe removal and disposal. 

 

There are licensed, specialist asbestos removal companies who will arrange for the safe 

removal and disposal of asbestos. 

 

Alternatively small quantities of ‘bonded asbestos’, arising from household maintenance 

and repairs, can be taken by residents to the waste transfer station operated by Suez, 

located on the Brackmills Industrial Estate (Liliput Road) in Northampton under the 

Asbestos Disposal Scheme.  

 

Depending on the type of asbestos, a charge may be applied (see Schedule 3, Section 1.0 

for further details). 

  

6.2 Plasterboard 
  

There are plasterboard recycling facilities at all of the HWRCs. However, there are 

restrictions about how this waste is presented. 

Residents should ensure that any plasterboard brought to a HWRC for disposal is: 

 stripped of any contaminating material such as wood, tiles and bricks; 

Page 78



Appendix A 

25 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 removed from bags and wrappers. 

  

If plasterboard is not completely free of contaminating material it may be refused. Residents 

should use the checklist below: 

  

Acceptable No thank you 

Plasterboard with wallpaper or paint 
Plasterboard with foil backing 

Tiles 

Bricks and breeze blocks 

Batting and fixings 

  

6.3 Hazardous Waste 
  

Hazardous Waste is any liquid or solid material that may cause harm to people or the 

environment if not disposed of correctly. The following are examples of hazardous waste 

that people may have at home  

 

Household products Garden products Car products 

Paint Weed killers Antifreeze 

Oven cleaner   Oil filters 

Fire extinguishers   Used engine oil 

  

Information on whether these are accepted at the HWRC’s can be found in Schedule 2, 

section 6.0. 

  

6.4 Clinical Waste and Sharps disposal 
 

Clinical waste classed as hazardous and clinical sharps cannot be accepted for disposal at 

the household waste recycling centres. Residents should contact their doctor or local health 

authority for advice on hazardous clinical waste and sharps disposal. The Council can 

arrange for the collection of clinical waste in certain circumstances as detailed in Schedule 

1, section 26. 

   

6.5 Landlord’s Waste 
 

Landlords should note that any waste from a property that they own but do not live in, or if 

waste is created by someone who has been paid to complete the work, the waste is 

considered to be commercial / trade waste and must be paid for. 

 

6.6 Commercial / Trade Waste 
 

All residents should note that if waste is generated as a result of paying for a tradesperson 

to do work on their house, then the waste is considered to be trade waste and must be paid 

for (see https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/waste-and-

recycling/Pages/trade-or-commercial-waste.aspx for further information). 

 

6.7 DIY Waste 
 

The maximum number of trips permitted to dispose of DIY waste produced by residents as 

a result of DIY work on their own home is determined by the type of vehicle.  

Page 79

https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/waste-and-recycling/Pages/trade-or-commercial-waste.aspx
https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/waste-and-recycling/Pages/trade-or-commercial-waste.aspx


Appendix A 

26 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

  

Vehicle type Number of free DIY waste trips per 2 
months (60 days) 

Small cars 8 trips 

Large cars 

Estate cars 

MPV’s 

People carriers 

4x4s without pickup 

Campervans or minibuses with rear 
seats and fittings (used for passenger 
transport) 

4 trips 

  

  

  

Vehicle type Number of free DIY waste trips per 12 
months (365 days) 

Pick-ups and crew cabs under 3.5 
tonnes gross laden weight 
  

6 trips as per e-permit scheme (see 
Schedule 2, section 7.0) 

Vans under 3.5 tonnes gross laden 
weight 
  

Campervans and minibuses with rear 
seats and fittings removed 

  

Horseboxes under 3.5 tonnes gross 
laden weight 

Any medium vehicle towing trailers 
under 1.8m in length 

  

DIY waste (or construction and demolition waste) is large amounts of waste that is 

generated through building or renovation work in a home or garden. 

By law waste types, such as DIY waste, that may be produced through building or 

renovation work in a resident’s own home or garden are classed as 'non-household waste' 

and the Council does not have to accept these waste types free of charge. 

Examples of DIY waste (not a comprehensive list): 

 Hardcore, rubble and bricks 

 Tiles and ceramics 

 Paving slabs 

 Plasterboard 

 Roofing materials 

 Soil, turf and tree trunks from landscaping activities 

 Baths, toilets and basins 

 Fitted carpets and underlay 

 Doors, windows and frames 

 Kitchen units and work surfaces 

 Built in wardrobes and cupboards 

 Shed and fence panels 

 Laminate flooring 

Page 80



Appendix A 

27 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 Timber and MDF hardboard 

 Central heating system components 

If a resident wants to make more than the permitted number of visits to dispose of DIY 

waste then they will be directed you to one of the HWRCs that has a weighbridge and the 

waste will be treated as chargeable. 

The HWRC site staff may require additional verification about the source of waste brought 

to site for free disposal and they may ask residents to complete a declaration form.  

 

7.0  HWRC e-permit scheme 
  

The electronic permit (e-permit) scheme which is in force at all HWRCs applies to residents 

taking household waste to the sites in a car towing a trailer or a commercial-type vehicle: 

residents will require an e-permit to access the HWRCs. The waste e-permit scheme limits 

a car towing a trailer or commercial-type vehicles to 6 visits over a 12-month period. 

Residents can apply for a free e-permit, or renew or edit an existing e-permit online at 

https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/waste-and-recycling/Pages/waste-e-

permit-scheme.aspx 

 

Note as a part of the application process, residents must agree to the terms and conditions, 

of the e-permit scheme, which is strictly for household waste only.   

  

  
 

  
  

Page 81

https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/waste-and-recycling/Pages/waste-e-permit-scheme.aspx
https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/waste-and-recycling/Pages/waste-e-permit-scheme.aspx


Appendix A 

28 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 

Schedule 3 – Other Waste Services 
  

1.0 Asbestos Disposal Scheme 
  

An asbestos disposal scheme is available for households which is subject to the guidelines 

and changes detailed below. 

 

1.1 Guidelines 
  

There are strict guidelines for using the Asbestos Disposal Scheme which restrict the 

amount of asbestos waste that can be disposed using the scheme and the way in which it is 

presented. Waste will not be accepted if it does not fall within these guidelines: 

o Only one trip per household is permitted. 

o Each individual bonded asbestos sheet/pipe must be wrapped in clear thick gauge 

polythene sheeting (available from DIY stores) and sealed with tape to prevent the 

release of dust (maximum length per piece = 1.8 metres).  

 

1.2 Asbestos Scheme Charges 
  

A subsidised charge is made for the following acceptable items: 

 Up to an absolute maximum of 5 sheets of 900mm x 1.80 metres 

 Up to an absolute maximum of 9.00 metres run of asbestos (pipe/guttering) 

 1 x asbestos water tank 

 

Information on the applicable charges can be found at 

https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/waste-and-

recycling/Pages/Restrictions-at-household-waste-recycling-centres.aspx.  

 

Items for which no charge is made: 

 Ironing boards with asbestos iron rest pad (do not remove the pad from the ironing 

board)  

 Small domestic asbestos fire blankets 

 

If a resident has more than the maximum quantities shown, the whole amount is charged at 

the transfer station's commercial rate and none of the resident’s waste will be eligible for 

disposal under the Scheme at any time. 

 

This scheme is only available for asbestos removed by residents from their own home and 

is not for trade waste which includes asbestos that residents have paid to have removed 

from their home. 

  

2.0 Charity Waste Recycling Permit (CWRP) 
Organisations that meet the following criteria may request a Charity Waste Recycling 

Permit (CWRP) by completing an on-line application form issued by North 

Northamptonshire Council. 

 

Criteria –  

Page 82

https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/waste-and-recycling/Pages/Restrictions-at-household-waste-recycling-centres.aspx
https://www.northamptonshire.gov.uk/councilservices/waste-and-recycling/Pages/Restrictions-at-household-waste-recycling-centres.aspx


Appendix A 

29 | North Northamptonshire Council – Waste and Recycling Policy 
 

 A place of worship, or 

 A charity shop selling donated goods originating from domestic property; 

 A premises occupied by —  
o a community interest company (being a company which is registered as such with 

the registrar of companies) which collects goods for re-use or waste to prepare 
for re-use from domestic property, or  

o a charity or other not for profit body, which collects goods for re-use or waste to 
prepare for re-use from domestic property. 

  

There is an administration fee for each application based upon the costs incurred by the 

Council and its contractors in administering this system.  The current fee is outlined in the 

application form.  A Charity Permit application form can be requested via email into 

Wastemanagement.NCC@northnorthants.gov.uk.  Permits are linked to specific vehicles 

and a Permit is required for each vehicle that uses the site.  Permits are valid for twelve 

months.  

  

Only recyclable waste is permitted to be taken into either Kettering or Rushden Household 

Waste Recycling Centres in the North Northamptonshire area and it must be weighed 

separately. Any approved non-recyclable waste will be directed to one of North 

Northamptonshire’s nominated or contracted residual waste Delivery Points.   

  

Restrictions  

Waste that cannot be disposed of using a Charity Waste Permit includes – 

 Construction, demolition, maintenance or refurbishment waste, 

 Packaging waste; 

 Waste from garden clearances; 

 Waste generated outside North Northamptonshire  

 Any waste items that have been collected in return for a sum of money; 

 Any items that have been donated by businesses or not directly from a householder; 
or 

 Any recycling or residual waste that is being delivered to either an HWRC or residual 
waste Delivery Point by a company that has been paid. 

This list is not exhaustive but as a rule of thumb, no waste other than goods donated from 

domestic properties or from a place of worship will be accepted. 

  
  
  

  

 

 

Page 83

mailto:Wastemanagement.NCC@northnorthants.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 

1 | North Northamptonshire Council – Street Cleansing Policy 
 

 
 

Street Cleansing  
Policy 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

October 2021 Version 4 
 

www.northnorthants.gov.uk   

  

Page 85

Appendix 

http://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/
http://www.northnorthants.gov.uk/


Appendix B 

2 | North Northamptonshire Council – Street Cleansing Policy 
 

Document Version Control 
 
Author: Service Development Manager (Waste and Recycling) 
Type of document: Policy 
Version Number: V4 
Document File Name: Street Cleansing Policy 
Issue date: 12 October 2021 
Approval date and by who (CMT / committee): Executive, 18th November 2021 
Document held by (name/section): Beth Gordon, Waste 
For internal publication only or external also – Internal and External 
Document stored on Council website or Intranet – Council website 
Next review date: October 2022 
 

Change History 
 

Issue Date Comments 

V2 24 November 2020 Approved by Shadow Executive 3 February 2021 

V3 1 April 2021 Minor typo’s corrected 

V4 12 October 2021 Transferred to NNC template and bins on street procedure 
added 

 
 

Consultees 
 

Internal External 

e.g. Individual(s) / Group / Section e.g. Stakeholders / Partners /Organisation(s) 

  

  

  

 
 

Distribution List 
 

Internal External 

Street cleansing section  

  

  

  

 
 

Links to other documents 
 

Document Link 

Strategy for Tackling Litter and 
Fly-tipping 

To be added to website  

  

  

  

 
 

Page 86



Appendix B 

3 | North Northamptonshire Council – Street Cleansing Policy 
 

Additional Comments to note 
  

Page 87



Appendix B 

4 | North Northamptonshire Council – Street Cleansing Policy 
 

Contents 
 

Section Page 

1.0 Introduction/foreword 4 
2.0 Scope 4 

3.0 Policy outcomes 4 

4.0 Street Cleansing Policy 
4.1 Routine Cleansing Activities 
4.2 Cleansing of Major Roads 
4.3 Dog fouling 
4.4 Litter bins 
4.5 Dog bins 
4.6 Removal of fly-tipping 
4.7 Leaf-fall / Tree Blossom 
4.8 Needles / syringes 
4.9 Removal of dead animals 
4.10 Fly-posting 
4.11 Graffiti 
4.12 Support for community litter picks 
4.13 Abandoned vehicles 

4 
4 
4 
4 
4 
5 
5 
5 
5 
5 
5 
5 
5 

6 
5.0 Next steps 6 

6.0 Glossary of terms 6 

Appendix A - Bin Installation Scoring System 7 

 
 
 

  

Page 88



Appendix B 

5 | North Northamptonshire Council – Street Cleansing Policy 
 

1.0 Introduction / foreword 

1.1 North Northamptonshire Council’s Street Cleansing Policy aims to ensure that street cleaning services 
are provided in an effective and efficient manner in order to maximise recycling and reduce the amount 
of waste disposed of. 

2.0 Scope 
 
2.1 The Council is defined as a ‘Principal Litter Authority’ under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and 

places a duty on the Council to ensure that its land (or land for which they are responsible) is, so far as 
is practicable, kept clear of litter and refuse.   

 
2.2 These policies have been implemented to ensure we meet the requirements under the Environmental 

Protection Act 1990 and the Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse. 

 

3.0 Policy outcomes 
 
3.1 The intention of this policy document is to ensure there are clearly defined policies and standards in 

relation to the delivery of the street cleansing service in North Northamptonshire to avoid uncertainty 
for residents, customers, Elected Members and Officers of the Council. 

4.0 Street Cleansing Policy 
 
4.1 Routine Cleansing Activities - the Council has a range of street cleansing resources deployed across 

the council area to remove litter and detritus from the public highway.  These include large and small 
mechanical sweepers and operatives for manual cleansing work.  They are deployed across the area 
on the basis of need – typically, more resources and more frequent cleansing in town centre and urban 
areas, fewer in residential and rural areas.  Cleansing schedules are designed to meet the standards 
set out in the Code of Practice on Litter and Refuse.  

4.2 Cleansing of Major Roads - North Northamptonshire is responsible for keeping high speed roads (but 
not motorways) clear of litter and refuse in accordance with Code of Practice on Litter and 
Refuse.  This operation is tightly regulated to avoid incidents and is carried out according to a 
cleansing schedule determined by need and the ability to work safely.   On trunk roads (e.g. A14) we 
will work with the road operator, National Highways, to maintain a clean and tidy environment.   

4.3 Dog Fouling – this is removed from pavements as part of the routine cleansing activities.  It will not be 
removed from grass verges / park areas.  Following complaints of dog fouling, the fouling will only be 
removed if there is a significant level of fouling along a stretch of pavement, otherwise it will be cleared 
as part of the routine activities. 

4.4  Litter Bins - these are provided and emptied by North Northamptonshire Council in locations near or 
next to the public highway or on land owned by the Council.   

4.4.1    Requests for new litter bins - requests for new litter bins will be assessed using the criteria in 
Appendix 1.  This is to ensure bins are located in areas of greatest need and effectiveness. 
The Council will not install litter bins on private land or areas falling under the responsibility of 
other public bodies including schools, colleges, bus stations and railways land.  

4.4.2    Emptying and maintenance of existing litter bins - only bins purchased and installed by 
North Northamptonshire Council will be maintained and emptied. Bins will be emptied on a 
frequency to prevent them overflowing. This will be based on their location and related to 
intensity of use. The frequency can vary seasonally or if special events are taking place. 
Monitoring and complaints will be used to re-assess the frequency of emptying if required.  All 
bins will be maintained to a standard that is fit for purpose and will not present a hazard to the 

Page 89



Appendix B 

6 | North Northamptonshire Council – Street Cleansing Policy 
 

general public. If a bin is damaged or stolen, it will be replaced only if it meets the criteria 
(appendix 1) for new bins.  

4.4.3 Replacement of existing litter bins - existing litter bins will be replaced if they are no longer 
safe and are being used sufficiently enough to warrant replacing.  Any bins that have a history 
of vandalism or misuse will not be replaced. If a bin is removed permanently the ground will be 
made good and any bolts / fittings removed. 

4.4.4  Emptying of litter bins on private land - the Council does not normally empty litter bins on 
private land, however on occasions may undertake to do so if the bin can be incorporated into 
existing rounds and the owner of the bin pays for the service.  The cost will depend on the 
location and frequency of emptying. 

4.4.5    Recycling on the Go (Dual purpose litter and recycling bins) - the Council will consider the 
use of dual-purpose litter and recycling bins when installing new or replacement bins.  These 
will only be in areas of significant footfall to warrant the bin and may be removed if they are 
being regularly contaminated. 

 
4.5 Dog Bins - North Northamptonshire does not provide dog waste bins as bagged dog waste can be 

placed in an ordinary litter bins or taken home for disposal in the residual waste bin. However, some 
dog bins remain in place from previous arrangements and will be emptied where the Council is 
responsible for them.  When the bin is past its useful life it may be replaced by a litter bin if there is a 
need for a bin in that location. 

4.6 Removal of Fly-tipping - the Council is responsible for the removal of fly-tipped waste located on 
adopted highways and other land areas managed by the Council. Removal of fly-tipping located on 
private land is the responsibility of the landowner.  Removal of fly-tipping will normally take place within 
three working days of report.  Where hazardous waste has been fly-tipped, specialist removal may be 
required which may affect removal timescales. 

4.7  Leaf-fall / Tree Blossom - at certain times of the year our cleansing schedules will be adjusted to 
respond to issues or leaf-fall / tree blossom on the highway.  Areas for clearance will be prioritised 
depending on amount of footfall, with resources concentrated on areas around town centres, shopping 
areas, schools and health facilities. 

4.8 Needles / syringes - Needles / syringes will be removed from the highway and Council owned land 
within 1 working day of being reported.  Where these have been found out of normal working hours 
they should be reported to the Council’s out of hours service.   

4.9  Removal of dead animals - dead animals will be removed from the highway when reported to the 
Council where it is safe to practically to so and there is a safety risk associated with leaving the animal 
in place. 

4.10 Fly-posting - this will be removed from Council owned buildings and land and railings adjacent to 
high-speed roads within 5 working days.  Posters will be kept for 5 days and if not claimed in that time 
period will be disposed of. 

4.11 Graffiti - will be removed from buildings and land for which the Council is responsible for under the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990. 

 Non-offensive graffiti will be removed within 3-5 working days. 

 Offensive graffiti will be removed within 1 working day. 

The Council will assist in the removal of graffiti on private land in some cases subject to a charge, the 
completion of a disclaimer and where it can safety undertake the work. 

4.12 Support for community litter picks - the Council will support communities and local groups 
undertaking litter picks in their locality with the provision of sacks, litter pickers, hi-vis vests and 
collection of waste.  No large fly-tips or hazardous waste should be collected by groups undertaking 

Page 90



Appendix B 

7 | North Northamptonshire Council – Street Cleansing Policy 
 

community litter picks.  The location and type of waste fly tipped should be reported to the Council to 
arrange collection. The group undertaking the litter pick is responsible for ensuring the necessary risk 
assessment is in place. 

4.13 Abandoned vehicles - Abandoned vehicles should be reported to the ELVIS partnership on  

Email: elvis.recovery@northants.police.uk 

Telephone E.L.V.I.S on 08456 121 999 
 

 The vehicle will then be assessed to see whether it has been abandoned taking into account The 
Refuse Disposal (Amenity) Act 1978. The following will be taken into account when assessing whether 
it has been abandoned: 
  1.   Does it look vandalised and/or fire damaged? 
  2.   Does it look unused and in poor condition? 
  3.   Has it been there for over a week? 
  4.   Is there a valid tax disc? 
  5.   Are the wheels or petrol cap missing? 
  6.   Have parts been removed or damaged? (e.g. broken windows or flat tyres) 
  7.   Has it been parked or abandoned in an isolated or unusual location? 
  8.   Is it a known area for abandoned vehicles? 
  9.   Has anybody been seen using it or acting suspiciously around it? 
10.   Is it full of rubbish/hazardous material/ combustibles? 

 

5.0 Next steps 
 
5.1 The Council has already approved a Strategy for Tackling Litter and Fly-tipping which complements the 

polices contained within this document and sets out the key intervention activities we will undertake to 
reduce litter and fly-tipping. 

 

6.0 Glossary of terms  
 
Use this section to give definitions to any words that require explanation – especially if this is a public 
document. If you can’t avoid jargon or technical terms, this is the place to explain them. 
 

Term Definition 

Detritus Small broken down particles of synthetic and natural materials e.g. 
dust, mud, soil, grit, gravel, stones, rotted lead and vegetable 
residues, and fragments of twigs, glass, plastic and other finely 
divided materials. 

 
 

  

Page 91

mailto:elvis.recovery@northants.police.uk


Appendix B 

8 | North Northamptonshire Council – Street Cleansing Policy 
 

Appendix 1 - Bin Installation Scoring System 
 
Each request for a new bin should be assessed using the scoring system below. 
 

Category Options Score 

 
 
 

Street Cleaning Zone 

Zone 1 – High intensity of use, such as 
busy public areas 

10 

Zone 2 – Medium intensity of use, such as 
mixed use and high density residential 
areas 

5 

Zone 3 – Low intensity of use, such as low 
density residential housing 

1 

Zone 4 – Rural roads and areas with 
special circumstances, such as health and 
safety issues 

0 

 
Proximity to existing bins 

>100 metres to any bins 10 

<100 metres to 1 bin 5 

<100 metres to more than 1 bin 0 

 
 
 

Proximity to facilities 

<100 metres to educational establishment 5 

<50 metres to take away outlets 10 

<50 metres to shops 5 

<100 metres to sports facilities 2 

<50 metres to bus stops 2 

<100 metres to outdoor market/car boot 
sales 

1 

<100 metres to other public facilities such 
as community centre, church, public hall 

2 

 
 

Established Dog Walking 
Route/Area 

Route or area used by multiple dog owners 
daily (>20 dog owners) 

10 

Routes are area used by a limited number 
of dog owners daily (10-20 dog owners) 

5 

Route or area used infrequently by dog 
owners (<10 dog owners daily) 

0 

 
Number of requests for de-
littering received within 6 

months 

0 0 

1-2 2 

3-5 5 

6-10 10 

Over 11 12 

Number of requests for a bin 
received within a six month 

period (from different 
sources) 

1 0 

2-10 10 

11-50 15 

51 or over 20 

 
The overall score should be compared to the thresholds shown in the table below, to determine the 
success of the request.  
 

Score Outcome 

0-40 Unsuccessful 

41 or over Successful 

 
 
 

 

Page 92



                                    

 

 
 

Executive Advisory Panel 
Service Delivery, Performance and Customers  

 
1st November 2021 

 

 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendix A – Purchasing Gateway Report 
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1. This report requests the Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 

Executive Advisory Panel consider the procurement of the Catering services at 
Corby East Midlands International Pool to inform the Executive decision at its 
meeting on 18th November 2021.  
 

 
2. Executive Summary 

 
2.1 The Catering provision at Corby East Midlands International Pool is currently 

managed in-house by the pool management team.  The services have had two 
failed concessionaires in the past few years and a further unsuccessful 
procurement process in 2018.   
 

2.2 The service was closed in 2020 due to Covid and reopened in May 2021, the 
service requires management from an experienced catering concessionaire to 
ensure that the service operates effectively, profitably and provides the services 
required for customers at CEMIP. The facility is recovering from loss of 
customers following Covid and the café is currently offering a reduced service. 
   

2.3 A committee report was presented to the Corby Borough Council’s One Corby 
Policy committee on 8th October 2019 with the recommendation to tender the 
catering service for a maximum of 5 years, and this process of developing a 
tender was underway when the cafe was closed due to the Covid lockdown.  It 
was a difficult time for hospitality and not an appropriate time to undertake the 
procurement. 

Report Title 
 

Procurement of Catering Services at Corby East 
Midlands International Pool 
 

Report Author Julie Cardwell, Principal Leisure Officer – 
julie.cardwell@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 

Executive Member Councillor Helen Howell, Executive Member for Sport, 
Leisure, Culture and Tourism 

Item no: 

8 
  
 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 8



 
2.4 Following a full and compliant procurement process a comprehensive and 

impartial evaluation and moderation will be undertaken with all compliant bids 
received. The bid offering the best option based on quality, service, 
sustainability, and price will be accepted 

 
 
3. Recommendations 

 
3.1 It is recommended that the Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 

Executive Advisory Panel:  
 
a) Considers the procurement process for the Catering Contract at Corby East 

Midlands International Pool; and  
 

b) Provides feedback to the Executive to inform their decision making at its 
meeting on 18th November 2021 

 
 
4. Report Background 

 
4.1 The Catering at CEMIP has been tendered previously alongside the bar 

provision at Lodge Park Sports centre. 
 

4.2 Over the past few years there have been two unsuccessful providers operating 
these facilities and a further procurement exercise resulted in no tender being 
awarded. 

 
4.3 In December 2018 Corby Borough Council took on the management of the 

catering service at CEMIP and closed the bar provision at the Sports Centre. 
 
4.4 In October 2019 a committee report to the Corby Borough Council One Corby 

Policy Committee recommended that the catering service at CEMIP be tendered 
on its own without the bar service at Lodge Park Sports Centre. The process 
had to be stopped when the Covid lockdown in March 2020 closed the service 
for over 12 months. 

 
4.5 Catering staff were furloughed in June 2020, and since reopening in May 2021 

there has been a reduction in customers as the facility has gradually recovered 
pre-Covid capacity. 
 

4.6 A catering manager and catering staff have left the Council and not been 
replaced, the catering service is currently working on one member of staff on 
shift on a normal day with support from casuals and pool staff when needed. 

 
4.7 A report has been presented to the Purchasing Gateway Group and is attached 

as an appendix to this report. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 94



5. Issues and Choices 

 
5.1 The current service delivery is not sustainable, offering a reduced service with 

one member of staff, is not providing enough income to cover operational costs 
of the service. 
 

5.2 The CEMIP management team need to be able to focus on the delivery of 
services for the hundreds of thousands of visitors to the facility each year for the 
pool, gym, health suite, fitness studio and creche to ensure that all our 
customers’ needs are met. 

 
5.3 An experienced catering provider would be able to give the support to the cafe 

in CEMIP and have the level of expertise needed to manage the service which 
provides an important community meeting place and caters for events such as 
children’s birthday parties and Swimming Galas. 

 
5.4 A further choice for the service would be to close and have only vending in the 

facility which would impact on social interaction and atmosphere in the centre 
and therefore the overall customer experience. 

 
5.5 The procurement will follow a compliant procurement process, run in line with 

the requirements of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, the Concession 
Contracts Regulations 2016 and the Councils internal rule, processes and 
procedures. 

 
5.6 This will be a Concession Contract.  The Council will entrust the provision and 

management of the catering service to a concessionaire who can exploit the 
services they provide on behalf of the Council to achieve an income.  Where 
this is the case, the Council will require the concessionaire to provide the service 
that the customers within the facility require and may provide an income to the 
facility and Council. 

 
5.7 Currently the service is costing the Council to provide it, procuring it will enable 

the service to be delivered at no cost and may result in a small income to the 
CEMIP and NNC. 

 
5.8 As businesses continue to recover from the impact on Covid it is anticipated that 

there will be some interest now in this procurement process and as such the 
process should be started as soon as possible. 

 
 

6. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
6.1 Resources and Financial 

 
6.1.1 The Catering arrangement will be a Concession contract, so its value is 

determined by the value of the service to the Concessionaire (i.e. what the 
contract is worth), rather than how much the Council will pay for the service. 
The anticipated contract turnover for the term of this contract has been 
calculated as £668,893 based on the financial income data from previous 
incumbent provider of the service when providing a full service and offer. This 
will be the concession turnover and not what the Council should expect to 
receive as income from the supplier. 

Page 95



 
6.1.2 The Council will retain ownership of equipment and furniture within the café and 

kitchen, but the concessionaire will invest in any new equipment required to 
deliver the service, a full inventory of Council assets will be taken before any 
contract is awarded.  Any portable equipment which breaks during the term will 
be repaired or replaced by the concessionaire in agreement with Facility 
management. 
 

6.1.3 The service is currently forecast to make a loss in 2021-22 of £22,792, this is 
mainly due to being closed for Covid, a slow recovery in the service since 
reopening and the offer being considerably reduced. 

 
 
6.2 Legal  

 
6.2.1 The Legal team have been engaged through PGG to ensure a full and an 

appropriate contract is prepared for any successful concessionaire. 
 
 
6.3 Risk  

 
6.3.1 There is a risk of delay of the conclusion of the procurement if any further 

decisions need to be referred to the Executive and not delegated to the 
Executive Director for Adults, Communities and Wellbeing. 
 

6.3.2 If a decision is made not to procure the service, then this will continue to have 
a financial impact on the Council due to not operating the service to its full 
potential and not providing the level of services that customers expect. 
 
 

6.4 Consultation  
 

6.4.1 There has been no consultation undertaken with users of the service. 
 
 
6.5 Consideration by Scrutiny 

 
6.5.1 The procurement process may be selected by Scrutiny for consideration. 
 
 
6.6 Climate Impact 

 
6.6.1 The specification asks that the concessionaire sources local and sustainable 

food sources and undertakes appropriate recycling opportunities. 
 

6.6.2 The Concessionaire will work with facility management to ensure that energy 
efficiency is a priority and that working practices are managed to ensure that 
this is achieved. 

 
6.6.3 The provider will work with facility management to consider future energy 

efficiency opportunities and look to develop and implement where possible. 
 
 

Page 96



6.7 Community Impact 
 

6.7.1 An Equality Screening Assessment has been undertaken and included as part 
of the report and presentation to PGG. 
 

6.7.2 There are opportunities of positive impacts on the local community from this 
procurement including the local economy through employment and supply 
chains and social and environmental through encouraging more visitors to the 
CEMIP facility. 

 
6.7.3 There are opportunities of employment of local people as the café offering is 

extended. 
 
6.7.4 The venue offers a town centre, accessible meeting space for the community. 
 
6.7.5 Local business can benefit from providing services to the café. 
 
6.7.6 Hundreds of thousands of swimmers, fitness members, parents, children’s 

parties, judges, officials, and all members of the public have somewhere to meet 
within the facility and can be catered for. 

 
 
7. Background Papers 

 
7.1 None 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

PURCHASING GATEWAY GROUP 
 

Page 99

Appendix 



PURCHASING GATEWAY GROUP 
 

 

Purchasing Gateway Group | Page 2 of 9 

Contents 

1. Introduction, Background and Current Activity ................................................... 3 

2. Pre-Procurement Checklist ................................................................................ 3 

3. Route to Market .................................................................................................. 5 

4. Options to be Considered .................................................................................. 5 

5. Legal Considerations ......................................................................................... 6 

6. Finance Considerations ..................................................................................... 6 

7. Ethical and Equality Considerations ................................................................... 7 

8. Data Protection Considerations .......................................................................... 7 

9. Social Considerations (Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012) ...................... 7 

10. Environmental Considerations ........................................................................... 8 

11. Conclusion and Recommendation ..................................................................... 8 

12. External Consultants .......................................................................................... 8 

13. List of Annexes and Appendices ........................................................................ 8 

14. Officer to Contact ............................................................................................... 9 

15. Assistant Director Approval ................................................................................ 9 

 
 

Page 100



PURCHASING GATEWAY GROUP 
 

 

Purchasing Gateway Group | Page 3 of 9 

Purchasing Gateway Group Date of next meeting 
 

Catering Service at Corby East Midlands International Pool 
 

REQUESTOR GUIDANCE NOTES 

 The PGG form is to filled in and submitted if you wish for a procurement 
exercise to be ran from £100k. 

 You must engage someone from the procurement team before filling in and 
submitting your PGG. 

 All fields are mandatory. Incomplete forms will be returned to you. 

 The Procurement team will not publish the procurement exercise until the 
PGG is approved. 

 You are not required to complete a PGG if you're obtaining a waiver. To 
submit a waiver, please visit the Waivers and Emergency Procurements 
intranet page.  

 

BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE REQUIREMENT 

Procurement of a catering contract for the café at Corby East Midlands 
international Pool. 

 
1. Introduction, Background and Current Activity 
 
1.1. Corby East Midlands International Pool has a café area overlooking the fun pool 

in the central hub of the facility. The café operation is currently managed in-
house after having two (2) unsuccessful providers in the last few years and a 
procurement process that resulted in not gaining a successful award. The 
facility was closed in March 2020, due to the COVID-19 lockdown and staff 
were furloughed. Since reopening in May 2021, there has been a reduction in 
customers, as the facility is gradually increasing its operations to pre-COVID-19 
levels. 

 
1.2. The café needs to be managed by a dedicated catering manager/business, to 

enable it to develop, deliver the services required in the facility, and to ensure it 
is profitable. Therefore the team propose to run a compliant procurement 
exercise, to identify a suitable supplier to manage the catering provision within 
the facility. 

 
2. Pre-Procurement Checklist 
 

2.1. Is there a current contract in place? No 

2.1.1. If so, what is the expiry date of the current 
contract (dd/mm/yy)? 

Not applicable 

2.1.2. If the current contract has any extension 
periods which can be invoked, what are they? 

Not applicable 

Page 101

https://nnugov.sharepoint.com/sites/NNC-Finance/SitePages/Waivers.aspx
https://nnugov.sharepoint.com/sites/NNC-Finance/SitePages/Waivers.aspx


PURCHASING GATEWAY GROUP 
 

 

Purchasing Gateway Group | Page 4 of 9 

2.2. What is the proposed start date for the new contract 
(dd/mm/yy)? 

01/02/2022 

2.3. What is the proposed length of the new contract, 
inclusive of any extension periods? 

5 Years 

2.4. Is your requirement one-off (e.g. a project of fixed 
duration) or ongoing (e.g. a service which will need to be 
renewed after this contract ends)? 

Ongoing 

2.5. Has a Risk Register been produced for this procurement? No 

2.6. Has the spend for this procurement been approved? No 

2.6.1. Who has approved this spend (Name of Board or Budget Holder or 
Finance Officer)? 

As this is a concession contract, there is not a budget spend, rather the service will 
provide an income to the Council and save on the in-house loss, in managing the 
café. 

2.7. Has Head of Service approval been agreed for this 
procurement and your Recommendation, below? 

Yes 

2.8. What is the expected lifetime contract cost of the goods, 
service, supply or work? 

£ £668,893 

2.9. How has the expected lifetime contract cost been determined? 

This has been estimated through looking at pre-COVID-19 income for the catering 
service at the pool, during previous contracts and in-house delivery. It should be 
noted that this value is the estimated turnover of the contract (which is the 
prescribed method for determining contract value, as set out at Regulation 8. (3) of 
the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 (hereafter referred to as “CCR2016”)) 
and not what the Council should expect to receive as income from the supplier. 

2.10. What do you want to procure and achieve? 

Identify a suitable supplier to manage the catering service within the café within the 
facility, providing a good quality service to customers and staff. 

2.11. Could in-house resources be used to meet your 
requirement? 

No 

2.12. Have appropriate Framework Agreements been 
considered? 

No 

2.13. Has any market engagement or cost analysis taken 
place? 

No 

2.14. Do collaboration opportunities exist with other depts. or 
Councils? 

No 

2.15. Do training opportunities exist to up-skill in-house staff? N/A 

2.16. Are there any implications and/or considerations under 
Section 151 of the Commonhold and Leasehold Reform 
Act 2002 (previously Section 20 of the Landlord and 
Tenant Act 1985)? 

This is relevant to projects which affect leaseholder properties 
(residential or commercial). 

No 

2.17. Please provide any other relevant information for 2.11-16: 

Page 102



PURCHASING GATEWAY GROUP 
 

 

Purchasing Gateway Group | Page 5 of 9 

The service is currently being ran in-house but needs a dedicated catering supplier, 
to ensure the café is run effectively and efficiently.  

 
3. Route to Market 
 
3.1. What approach and route to market has been considered for this procurement, 

how will the submissions be evaluated (price/quality)? 
 

This service needs to be formally procured and will be evaluated through the Quality 
Questions (60% weighting) and Pricing details (40% weighting) returned for 
evaluation. The Quality element currently focusses on value for money, service 
provision (including policies and procedures), menu (including healthy options), 
continuous improvement and Sustainability. 

It is proposed that the contract is set-up to run for five (5) years  

 
3.2. Please confirm which procurement team member you have engaged with. 
 
You are required to discuss your requirement with a member of the procurement 
team prior to submitting this form. 
 

Chris Everett (Performance and Procurement Manager) 

 
4. Options to be Considered 
 
Please speak with a member of the procurement team if you require assistance 
completing this section. Otherwise, in the text box below, please choose which route 
you would like to undertake. 
 
4.1. Do nothing. 

4.2. Undertake a full Regulated procurement process to an open market. 

4.3. Use a compliant Framework Agreement or Dynamic Purchasing System 
(DPS). 

4.4. Other (please explain below). 
 

This is a concession style contract and as such, it is subject to the requirements of 
the CCR2016. 

Based on turnover details identified through pre-COVID-19operation of the in-house 
service and the methodology at Regulation 8 (3) of the CCR2016, the turnover value 
has been identified as £668,893. As such, a Request for Quotation, overseen and 
supported by the Procurement Team is proposed. 

 

Page 103



PURCHASING GATEWAY GROUP 
 

 

Purchasing Gateway Group | Page 6 of 9 

5. Legal Considerations 
 
Please speak with the Council’s Legal Services team if you require assistance 
completing this section. 
 
5.1. A contract will need to be put in place for any successful supplier 
 
6. Finance Considerations 
 
Please speak with the Council’s Financial Services team if you require assistance 
completing this section. 
 
6.1. There are no further finance considerations beyond the details included below. 
 

6.2. Type of spend (Revenue or Capital) Revenue 

6.3. Is funding included within the existing 
budgets? 
If “Yes”, please complete 6.3.1. If “No”, 
please complete 6.3.2. 

Yes 

6.3.1. If “Yes”, please provide the following: 

a. Budget Code 20D10124 

b. Budget Provision Small Income expected – will 
close above budget for catering 
delivery in house and will be 
shown as an income on 
20D10122 (CEMIP budget) 

c. Budget Holder Roger Jones 

d. Date agreed by Budget 
Holder 

17/09/2021 

6.3.2. If ‘No’, please provide details of how the costs are to be funded: 

N/A 

6.4. Date Agreed with Finance 27/09/2021 

6.5. Name of Finance Officer James O’Connor 

6.6. Medium Term Financial Implications 
If “Yes”, please complete 6.6.1 – 6.6.5. If 
“No”, please complete 6.7. 

No 

6.6.1. Year 1 (2022/23) £ Not applicable 

6.6.2. Year 2 (2023/24) £ Not applicable 

6.6.3. Year 3 (2024/25) £ Not applicable 

6.6.4. Year 4 (2025/26) £ Not applicable 

6.6.5. MTFP Implications agreed by 
Enter name of Finance Officer 

Not applicable 

6.7. Explanation of Medium-Term Financial Implications 

Page 104

mailto:legalinstructionsandqueries.kbc@northnorthants.gov.uk


PURCHASING GATEWAY GROUP 
 

 

Purchasing Gateway Group | Page 7 of 9 

The current catering provision is running at a loss and a cost to the Council. By 
procuring the requirement, it is expected that the service will be provided at nil cost 
to the Council and could generate a small income to the facility. 

6.8. If this contract is expected to be £500,000 or 
more, please confirm if you require the 
Successful Provider to provide a Parent 
Company Guarantee, Performance Bond or 
any other sureties? 
If “any other sureties” or “N/A – see 
explanation below”, please complete 6.8.1. 

N/A – see explanation below 

6.8.1. Please detail the other sureties you require as a part of this contract, 
or provide an explanation, if you have chosen “N/A – see 
explanation below”. 

We do not feel they need for a supplier to provide a Bond, as this is a concession 
contract, for which the Council isn’t placed in any financial risk. 

 
7. Ethical and Equality Considerations 
 
Please speak with the Council’s Policy Officer (Equality and Diversity) if you require 
assistance with this section. 
 
7.1. An Equality Screening Assessment has been drafted ahead of this Report being 

presented to the Purchasing Gateway Group and is attached as an annex. 
 
8. Data Protection Considerations 
 
Please complete the Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) screening 
questions, available online at https://nnugov.sharepoint.com/sites/NNC-
InfoGov/SitePages/Collecting-information.aspx and speak with the Council’s Data 
Protection Officer if you require assistance with this section. 
 
8.1. The Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) screening questions have been 

completed ahead of this Report being presented to the Purchasing Gateway 
Group, to determine whether a DPIA is required and are attached as an annex. 
8.1.1. I HAVE answered "yes" to MORE THAN ONE of the Screening 

Questions. 
 
9. Social Considerations (Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012) 
 
9.1. What outcomes have you considered from the procurement to improve the 

economic, social and environmental well-being of Northamptonshire? 
9.1.1. The café provides a community meeting point for customers to the 

facility, but also from members of the public. It is a large, bright social 
place that is a good place to meet.  

9.1.2. The café provides work for local people and there are further 
opportunities to increase the offer and to provide volunteering, 
training and work experience being explored as a part of this 
contract. 

Page 105

mailto:equalities@northnorthants.gov.uk
https://nnugov.sharepoint.com/sites/NNC-InfoGov/SitePages/Collecting-information.aspx
https://nnugov.sharepoint.com/sites/NNC-InfoGov/SitePages/Collecting-information.aspx
mailto:dataprotection@northnorthants.gov.uk
mailto:dataprotection@northnorthants.gov.uk


PURCHASING GATEWAY GROUP 
 

 

Purchasing Gateway Group | Page 8 of 9 

9.1.3. The café can also support local food supplier businesses 
9.1.4. The café can champion recycling and the use of sustainable 

materials. This has been included in the specification, and will be 
adopted as a part of any resultant contract. 

 
9.2. How will you ensure the improvement(s) identified above, are achieved? 

9.2.1. These are included in the specification for the procurement process 
and will be monitored through scheduled Contract Management 
Meetings with the successful supplier. 

 
9.3. Are you undertaking any community consultation as a part of the Social 

considerations of this procurement? 
9.3.1. No 

 
10. Environmental Considerations 
 
Please speak with the Council’s Sustainability Officer if you require assistance 
completing this section. 
 
10.1. The Specification for this requirement requires the successful supplier to recycle 

materials and source sustainable products and food for its business operations. 
 
11. Conclusion and Recommendation 
 
11.1. The procurement of the catering service needs to go out to market, to ensure 

that the café is operated effectively and efficiently, to provide services for 
members of the community who use the facility and to provide catering services 
for events and galas that take place. 

 
11.2. It is recommended that PGG approves the procurement of the catering services 

at Corby East Midlands International Pool through using the Request for 
Quotation process, and for the contract to start as soon as possible. 

 
11.3. Due to the contract value being above the Council’s established Key Decision 

Threshold (£500,000), a report will be presented to the Executive Committee, 
ahead of any procurement taking place. 

 
12. External Consultants 
 

If you intend to utilise any consultants, please list names and their organisations and 
their role in this procurement. 
 
12.1. None 
 
13. List of Annexes and Appendices 
 
13.1. Equality Screening Assessment 
13.2. Data Protection Impact screening questions 
 

Page 106



PURCHASING GATEWAY GROUP 
 

 

Purchasing Gateway Group | Page 9 of 9 

14. Officer to Contact 
 
Please confirm details for the officer to contact if there are any queries. 
 
14.1. Julie Cardwell (Principal Leisure Officer) 
14.2. 01536 464046 
14.3. julie.cardwell@northnorthants.gov.uk 
 
15. Assistant Director Approval 
 
Please confirm details for the Assistant Director who has approved this requirement. 
 
15.1. Kerry Purnell (Assistant Director of Housing and Communities) 
15.2. 07787 266210 
15.3. kerry.purnell@northnorthants.gov.uk 
15.4. 17/09/2021 

Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



                                    

 

 
 
 

Executive Advisory Panel 
Service Delivery, Performance and Customers  

 
1st November 2021 

 

 
 
List of Appendices 
 
None 
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 

 
1.1 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) provides the 

final stage for complaints about councils and social care after the council’s own 
complaints procedure has been exhausted. Each year the LGSCO issues an 
annual letter to all Councils individually that covers complaints that have been 
received relating to their own Council and their outcome.  

 
1.2 This report to Service Delivery, Performance and Customers Executive 

Advisory Panel Executive shows the LGSCO’s findings in respect of the 
sovereign authorities of Corby Borough Council, East Northamptonshire District 
Council, Kettering Borough Council, Northamptonshire County Council and 
Wellingborough Borough Council between the 1st of April 2020 and the 31st of 
March 2021.  

 
 
2. Information 

 
2.1 Overall, the following numbers of complaints were received by the LGSCO in 

2020-21, listed below by sovereign authority:- 
 

Sovereign authority Number 

Corby Borough Council    6 

East Northamptonshire District Council    6 

Report Title 
 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual 
Report 2020-21 
 

Report Author Geoff Kent, Assistant Director of Customer Services, 
geoff.kent@northnorthants.gov.uk  
 

Executive Member Cllr Helen Harrison, Executive Member for Adults, Health 
and Wellbeing 
 

Item no: 

9 
 
 

Page 109

Agenda Item 9

mailto:geoff.kent@northnorthants.gov.uk


Kettering Borough Council  11 

Northamptonshire County Council  61 

Wellingborough Borough Council    7  

Total  91 

 
2.2 Overall, the following numbers of complaints received by the LGSCO had were 

broken down by service area as below:-    
 

Service area Number 

Adult social care 26 

Benefits and Tax 4 

Corporate and other services 7 

Education and Children’s services 28 

Environmental Services, Public Protection and Regulation 4 

Highways and transport 5 

Housing 5 

Planning and development 11 

Other 1 

Total 91 

 
 
3. Recommendations 

 
3.1 It is recommended that:  

 
a) The Service Delivery, Performance and Customers Executive Advisory 

Panel notes the content and recommendations of the Ombudsman’s 
reports. 
 
 

4. Report Background 

 
4.1 The Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) notes that from 

the 1st April 2021 all Borough, County and District Councils in Northamptonshire 
were abolished and their functions absorbed by the newly formed West 
Northamptonshire Council and North Northamptonshire Council. This data 
relates to 2020-21 and separate review letters were issued in respect of each 
sovereign authority as they existed during that year.  
 

4.2 It should be noted that due to the COVID pandemic the LGSCO suspended all 
casework between March 2020 and late June 2020.  
 

 
5. Issues and Choices 

 
5.1 In reviewing complaints nationally, Mike King the LGSCO said that he was 

concerned about “general erosion” to Council’s complaints functions. He also 
noted that nationally:-  

 67% of complaints were upheld, compared to 61% previous year. 

 Recommendations to remedy an injustice were up 2% on previous year. 

Page 110



 Children’s Services cases make up the largest proportion of the work 
 that LGSCO is now dealing with and 77% of those complaints are 
 upheld. 

 Covid has not created new themes but magnified existing issues. 

 The main cause of complaints is a lack of basic administration. 

 There should be more focus on “getting boring stuff right”. 
 

5.2 More detailed information by sovereign authority is shown in this section. The 
full LGSCO reports about individual case decisions can be accessed via the link 
to background papers in section 7 of this report.  
 

5.3 The table below shows comparative data for the number of cases investigated 
by the LGSCO in 2020-21 in respect of the sovereign authorities in North 
Northamptonshire and their outcomes:- 
 

 

 

C
o
rb

y
 B

o
ro

u
g

h
 C

o
u
n

c
il 

E
a

s
t 

N
o
rt

h
a

m
p

to
n

s
h

ir
e

 

D
is

tr
ic

t 
C

o
u

n
c
il 

K
e

tt
e

ri
n
g

 
B

o
ro

u
g
h

 

C
o
u

n
c
il 

N
o
rt

h
a

m
p

to
n

s
h

ir
e

 

C
o
u

n
ty

 C
o

u
n

c
il 

W
e

lli
n
g

b
o

ro
u
g

h
 

B
o

ro
u
g

h
 C

o
u

n
c
il 

2020-21 

Complaints, enquiries received by 
LGSCO 

6 6 11 61 7 

Cases investigated by LGSCO 1 3 1 23 1 

Above cases of which upheld 1 0 1 15 0 

Above cases of which upheld 100% 0% 100% 65% 0% 

Average of cases upheld for similar 
authorities 

53% 53% 53% 71% 53% 

Comparison for 2019-20 

Cases investigated by LGSCO 2 0 1 29 2 

Above cases of which upheld 2 0 0 22 2 

 
5.4 The following tables summarise the cases upheld by the LGSCO in respect of 

the individual sovereign councils in North Northamptonshire:- 
 

Cases for Corby Borough Council 

LGSCO 
ref 

Summary Outcome 

18 012 
217 

The Council had not made 
reasonable adjustments to its 
communications to allow for 
disabilities. It also did not 
backdate council tax support. 

The Council agreed to pay the 
equivalent to the amount of the 
council tax support it would have 
awarded had it been backdated.  
 
The Council wrote to apologise 
for the faults I have identified and 
developed a policy on how to 

Page 111



check with service users 
whether they need any 
reasonable adjustments, 
because of a disability, to allow 
access to a service. 

 
 

Cases for East Northamptonshire District Council 

There were no cases in 2020-21. 

 

Cases for Kettering Borough Council 

LGSCO 
ref 

Summary Outcome 

19 010 
250 

How the Council dealt with an 
alleged breach of planning 
control. 

The Council apologised and paid 
£250. 
 
It reminded staff of the 
importance of clear 
communications in respect of 
enforcement matters. 

 

Cases for Northamptonshire County Council  
(all upheld, it is not possible to split by North or West Northamptonshire) 

LGSCO 
ref 

Summary Outcome 

19 018 
067 

The provider commissioned by 
the Council failed to provide the 
care it agreed to provide, 
harassed and bullied, 
acknowledged concerns but 
made no changes. 

The Council produced a detailed 
care plan. 
 
A sample of anonymised care 
plans during quality monitoring 
was inspected to ensure the 
change outlined above have 
been introduced. 

19 020 
094 

The Council took too long to act 
upon a request for contact with 
grandchildren. It provided 
inaccurate information when 
explaining its decision to refuse 
contact. 

The Council apologised and paid 
£250. 
 
It wrote to the person with an 
update as to the progress of the 
work the Council has carried out 
promoting contact. 
 
Staff dealing with children placed 
into care were reminded  that 
requests for contact need to be 
processed in a timely manner. 
 
Staff were reminded about the 
process of dealing with letters 
between children in care and 
their family. 

20 002 
614 

The Council were at fault for 
including inaccurate information 

The Council apologised and paid 
£250. 

Page 112



Cases for Northamptonshire County Council  
(all upheld, it is not possible to split by North or West Northamptonshire) 

LGSCO 
ref 

Summary Outcome 

in respect of a single 
assessment and complaints 
about it. 

 
 

19 005 
571 

The Council did not handle a 
special educational needs case 
properly. 
 

The Council was at fault, but the 
LGSCO did not feel that 
significant injustice had been 
caused. 

19 020 
393 

The Council double charged  for 
contributions to a domiciliary 
care package and respite care. 

The Council apologised and paid 
£350. 
 
The Council checked that no 
other service users were 
similarly affected and changed 
its policy. 

19 019 
642 

The Council's Sensory 
Impairment Service within the 
education department, was 
unwilling to work with social care 
to continue support from a deaf 
tutor. 

The Council apologised and paid 
£500. 
 
The Council ensured that 
accumulated direct payments 
were still available for support 
and completed a review and 
associated care plan to reflect 
current needs and care package. 

19 018 
350 

The Council delayed informing a 
decision to cease to maintain an 
Education, Health and Care 
plan. 

The Council apologised and paid 
£300. 
 
It issued written reminders to 
staff to adhere to the timescales 
set out in legislation after the 
annual review of an EHC plan. 

19 010 
540 

Time taken by the Council to 
complete a care needs 
assessment and increase the 
support needed.  

The Council apologised and paid 
£700. 
 
It ensured that for future 
assessments or interactions 
support is available to support 
the person through the process.  
 
The Council ensured that 
reasonable adjustments are 
made to support other users 
including providing more 
bespoke access to officers such 
as by direct telephone call. 

19 010 
137 

The Council failed to properly 
consider needs. It failed to 
provide appropriate full-time 
education for a long period of 

The Council apologised and paid 
£400. 
 

Page 113



Cases for Northamptonshire County Council  
(all upheld, it is not possible to split by North or West Northamptonshire) 

LGSCO 
ref 

Summary Outcome 

time and failed to manage the 
process towards developing an 
Education, Health and Care 
Plan, including finding a suitable 
placement.  

The Council considered how it 
addresses complaints to ensure 
they are dealt with as quickly as 
possible and to tell the LGSCO 
what action it will take in the 
future. 

19 017 
510 

The Council had failed to 
provide any support with social 
activities since 2017, causing 
isolation and affecting mental 
health. 

The Council apologised and paid 
£200. 
 
It allocated a social worker and 
completed a full care needs 
assessment. 

19 010 
596 

An application for home to 
school transport for a disabled 
child was refused. 

The Council apologised, 
reconsidered the case using the 
correct criteria and reimbursed 
transport costs incurred. 
 
The Council reviewed its policy 
and procedures to ensure the 
correct criteria are applied in 
future in similar cases. 
 
Training was arranged for both 
officers and panel members on 
the revised policy to ensure it is 
properly understood and applied 
in future. 

19 015 
304 

The Council delayed recovering 
an overpaid direct payment, 
failed to properly explain the 
amount outstanding and 
wrongly said a repayment plan 
has been agreed. 

The Council apologised and 
liaised with the resident about 
the outstanding debt. 
 
Officers were reminded of the 
need to follow the Council’s 
policy when pursuing repayment 
and the need to confirm any 
payment plans in writing and 
ensure a process is in place to 
follow up promptly when a 
payment is not received. 

19 015 
098 

The Council failed to arrange for 
its insurers to make contact so 
that a claim for unfair loss of 
income that the family sustained 
while fostering to adopt could be 
made. 

The Council had already 
apologised and paid £500 but 
agreed to pay a further £200. 
 
The Council then monitored 
cases to minimise the time lag 
between a matter being referred 
to its insurer and appropriate 
action being taken. 

Page 114



Cases for Northamptonshire County Council  
(all upheld, it is not possible to split by North or West Northamptonshire) 

LGSCO 
ref 

Summary Outcome 

19 014 
990 

The Council decided not to 
award a child home to school 
transport. 

The Council arranged another 
appeal with a different panel to 
consider the case. 

N/a One further case was upheld but 
was not reported upon due to 
confidentiality. 

 

 

Cases for Wellingborough Borough Council 

There were no cases in 2020-21. 

 
 

6. Implications (including financial implications) 

 
6.1 Resources and Financial 

 
6.1.1 Although there are no direct implications from this report, it should be noted that 

where LGSCO upholds complaints this can cause the authority Officer time, 
resource and financial costs to resolve as well as there being damage to the 
authority’s reputation. 
 
 

6.2 Legal  
 

6.2.1 There are no legal implications arising from the proposals. 
 
 
6.3 Risk  

 
6.3.1 There are no significant risks arising from the recommendations in this report. 
 
 
6.4 Consultation  

 
6.4.1 No consultation is applicable in respect of this report. 
 
 
6.5 Consideration by Scrutiny 

 
6.5.1 This matter has not been considered by the Scrutiny Commission. 
 
 
6.6 Climate Impact 

 
6.6.1 There is no climate impact from this report. 

 
 
 
 

Page 115



6.7 Community Impact 
 
There is no community impact from this report. 
  
 

7. Background Papers 

 
7.1 The LGSCO publishes information about Council performance on it’s website 

The performance of individual sovereign authorities in North Northamptonshire 
can be found here  

Page 116

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2021/jul/ombudsman-annual-review-highlights-widening-cracks-in-council-complaints-systems
https://www.lgo.org.uk/your-councils-performance/north-northamptonshire-council/statistics


Document is Restricted

Page 117

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  
 

North Northamptonshire Council 

 

1 OCTOBER 2021 TO 31 JANUARY 2022 

 
 

  
Published by: Democratic Services 

 
Leader of North Northamptonshire Council: Councillor Jason Smithers 

 
 
 

P
age 125

A
genda Item

 11



INTRODUCTION 
 
This is the North Northamptonshire Council’s Forward Plan.  It is published pursuant to The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.  Its purpose is to provide the required 28 days notice of the Council’s intention 
to take ‘key decisions’ and to hold meetings or parts of meetings in private.  It gives advance notice of all the “key decisions” and “exempt 
decisions” which the Executive or another body or officer so authorised are likely to take over a four month period.  The Plan is updated on a 
rolling monthly basis. 
 

The Members of the Executive are: 
 

Councillor Jason Smithers Leader of North Northamptonshire Council 
 

Councillor Helen Howell Deputy Leader of North Northamptonshire Council 
Sport, Leisure, Culture and Tourism 

Councillor Helen Harrison Adults, Health and Wellbeing 

Councillor Scott Edwards Children, Families, Education and Skills 

Councillor Harriet Pentland Climate and Green Environment 

Councillor Lloyd Bunday Finance and Transformation 

Councillor David Brackenbury Growth and Regeneration 

Councillor Graham Lawman Highways, Travel and Assets 

Councillor Andy Mercer Housing and Community 

Councillor David Howes Rural Communities and Localism 

 
The concept of a “key decision” is intended to capture the most important or significant decisions. “Key decisions” will normally be made at 
meetings open to the press and public.  The press and public will only be excluded from such meetings as and when the Council’s Monitoring 
Officer considers that this is necessary in order to avoid the public disclosure of confidential or exempt information. 
 
The authority has decided that a Key Decision is one which is likely:- 

(a) to result in the authority incurring expenditure of which is, or the making of savings which are, significant; or  
(b) to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more electoral wards in the area 

of the authority.” 
 
 The Council has decided that significant expenditure or savings are those amounting to above £500,000. 
 
In determining the meaning of “significant” for these purposes North Northamptonshire Council will also have regard to any guidance for the time 
being issued by the Secretary of State in accordance with section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000. 
 

P
age 126



At times it may be necessary for the North Northamptonshire Council to give consideration to items where the public may be excluded from the 
meeting.  Members of the public are excluded from meetings whenever it is likely that, in the view of the nature of the business to be transacted 
or the nature of the proceedings that confidential information would be disclosed.  This includes exclusion from access to any pertinent 
documents.  Details of the exemption categories can be found in the ‘Access to Information Procedure Rules’ section in the Council’s 
Constitution.  This plan provides advance notice of any items which may be held in private. 
 
Paragraph 5 of the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012 provides for 
members of the public to make representations to the Council on why an exempt item should be considered in public, rather than in private. 
Persons wishing to make such representations and/or obtain further details in respect of any issues referred to in the Plan should contact the 
undermentioned officer. 
 
The Monitoring Officer may also include in the Forward Plan references to such other decisions, which are to be taken by the Council or any of its 
Committees or Sub-Committee or officers as they consider appropriate. These will be those decisions that are considered to be significant or 
sufficiently important and/or sensitive so that it is reasonable for a member of the public to expect it to be recorded and published. 
 
All general questions or queries about the contents of this Forward Plan or about the arrangements for taking key decisions should be raised with 
Ben Smith, Democratic Services.   
 
Please email:  democraticservices@northnorthants.gov.uk 

P
age 127



 
 

November 
 

Subject of the 
Decision: 

Decision 
Maker 

Is it a key 
decision? 

Will it 
contain 
exempt 

information?
/Reasons for 
exemption, if 

any 

Consultation 
undertaken 

Anticipated 
Date of 

Decision: 

Report Author Support 
documents (if 

any) 

Capital Programme Update 
2021/22 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Finance 

 
 

Budget Forecast Update 
2021/22 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director – 
Finance 

 
 

Capital Outturn 2020-
21/Capital Monitoring 2021-22 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director – 
Finance 

 
 

Outturn 2020-21 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director – 
Finance 

 
 

Treasury Half Yearly 
Monitoring Report 
 

 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 
 

Executive Director - 
Finance 

 
 

Budget Strategy/Role of 
Scrutiny 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director – 
Finance 

 
 

Review of Dry Waste 
Recycling Contract 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Place and Economy 

 
 

Proposed amalgamation of 
Tennyson Road Infant and 
Alfred Street Junior Schools 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director – 
Children’s’ Services 

 
 

P
age 128



Destination Nene Valley 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Place and Economy 

 
 

Food Safety Service Plan 
2021-2023 and Food and 
Feed Standards Plan 2021-
2023 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 
 

Bus Service Improvement 
Plan 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Place and Economy 

 
 

Rough Sleeper 
Accommodation Programme 
(RSAP) 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 
 

Waste, Recycling & Street 
Cleansing Policies 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Place and Economy 

 
 

Housing Policies - Tenancy 
Policy & Tenancy Agreement 
and Aids & Adaptations Policy 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 
 

Procurement of a Revenue & 
Benefits ICT System 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director – 
Finance 

 
 

Treescape Fund 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Place and Economy 

 
 

Corby Town Investment Plan - 
Programme of Projects 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Place and Economy 

 
 

Local Council Tax Support 
Scheme 2022/23 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director – 
Finance 

 
 

Extension of current contract 
for the Processing and 
Treatment of Waste Wood 
 
 

Executive 
 

Yes Fully exempt 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Place and Economy 

 
 

P
age 129



Future provision of the 
services currently delivered by 
Wellingborough Norse 
 

Executive 
 

Yes Fully exempt 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Place and Economy 

 
 

Shaftesbury Street Property 
Purchases 
 

Executive 
 

Yes Fully exempt 
 

 18 Nov 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing 
 

 
 

P
age 130



 
 

December 
 

Subject of the 
Decision: 

Decision 
Maker 

Is it a key 
decision? 

Will it 
contain 
exempt 

information?
/Reasons for 
exemption, if 

any 

Consultation 
undertaken 

Anticipated 
Date of 

Decision: 

Report Author Support 
documents (if 

any) 

Budget Forecast Update 
2021/22 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 16 Dec 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Finance 

 
 

Capital Programme Update 
2021/22 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 16 Dec 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Finance 

 
 

Community Asset Transfer 
Policy 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 16 Dec 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Place and Economy 

 
 

Asset of Community Value 
Policy 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 16 Dec 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Place and Economy 

 
 

Local Economic Recovery and 
Growth 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 16 Dec 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Place and Economy 

 
 

Council Housing Development 
- former Grange Methodist 
Church Site, Kettering 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
Part exempt 
 

 16 Dec 2021 
 

Executive Director - 
Adults, Communities 
and Wellbeing 

 
 

P
age 131



 

 

January 
 

Subject of the 
Decision: 

Decision 
Maker 

Is it a key 
decision? 

Will it 
contain 
exempt 

information?
/Reasons for 
exemption, if 

any 

Consultation 
undertaken 

Anticipated 
Date of 

Decision: 

Report Author Support 
documents (if 

any) 

Budget Forecast Update 
2021/22 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 13 Jan 2022 
 

Executive Director - 
Finance 

 
 

Capital Programme Update 
2021/22 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 13 Jan 2022 
 

Executive Director - 
Finance 

 
 

 
 

February 
 

Subject of the 
Decision: 

Decision 
Maker 

Is it a key 
decision? 

Will it 
contain 
exempt 

information?
/Reasons for 
exemption, 

if any 

Consultation 
undertaken 

Anticipated 
Date of 

Decision: 

Report Author Support 
documents (if 

any) 

 

Budget Forecast Update 
2021/22 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 10 Feb 2022 
 

Executive Director - 
Finance  

 
 

P
age 132



Capital Programme Update 
2021/22 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 10 Feb 2022 
 

Executive Director - 
Finance 

 
 

 

March 
 

Subject of the 
Decision: 

Decision 
Maker 

Is it a key 
decision? 

Will it 
contain 
exempt 

information?
/Reasons for 
exemption, if 

any 

Consultation 
undertaken 

Anticipated 
Date of 

Decision: 

Report Author Support 
documents (if 

any) 

Tree Strategy and Policy 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 17 Mar 2022 
 

  
 

Pollinator Strategy 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 17 Mar 2022 
 

  
 

Budget Forecast Update 
2021/22 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 17 Mar 2022 
 

  
 

Capital Programme Update 
2021/22 
 

Executive 
 

Yes No 
 
 

 17 Mar 2022 
 

  
 

 

P
age 133



P
age 134



EAP Service Delivery, Performance and Customers 
Chair: Councillor Lloyd Bunday 

Committee Officer: David Pope 

 
 

Decision/Item Summary of Item Report 

Author 

Department  

 

Exempt 

Item 

0
1
 N

o
v
 2

0
2

1
 

2
2
 N

o
v
 2

0
2

1
 

1
7
 J

a
n

 2
0

2
2
 

2
8
 F

e
b

 2
0

2
2
 

2
1
 M

a
r 

2
0
2

2
 

1
2
 M

a
y
 2

0
2

2
 

Food Safety and Food 
and Feed Standards 
Service Plan 2021-23 

 

To seek feedback on the Food Safety and Food 
and Feed Standards Service Plans for 2021-23 to 
inform Executive decision making at its meeting of 
18th November 2021. 

 

Iain 

Smith 

Regulatory 

Services 
N       

Procurement of 
contract for the 
haulage and 
treatment of kerbside 
collected dry 
recycling material 

 

To seek comment to inform the decision of 
Executive in regard to the commencement of a 
procurement project for a contract for the haulage 
and treatment of dry recycling material (DRM) 
collected as part of the Council’s kerbside waste 
collection. 

 

Graeme 

Kane 

Place & 

Economy 
N       

North 
Northamptonshire 
Waste & Recycling 
Policy & Street 
Cleansing Policies 

 

To seek comments from the Panel to inform the 
Executive decision in relation to the approval of the 
following documents:  

 

 North Northamptonshire Waste and Recycling 
Policy 

 North Northamptonshire Street Cleansing 
Policy 

 

Graeme 

Kane 

Place & 

Economy 
N       

P
age 135

A
ppendix 



Decision/Item Summary of Item Report 

Author 

Department  

 

Exempt 

Item 

0
1
 N

o
v
 2

0
2

1
 

2
2
 N

o
v
 2

0
2

1
 

1
7
 J

a
n

 2
0

2
2
 

2
8
 F

e
b

 2
0

2
2
 

2
1
 M

a
r 

2
0
2

2
 

1
2
 M

a
y
 2

0
2

2
 

Procurement of 
Catering Services at 
Corby East Midlands 
International Pool 

 

The panel to consider and comment on the 

procurement of the Catering services at Corby 

East Midlands International Pool to inform the 

Executive decision  

Julie 

Cardwell 

Place & 

Economy 
N       

Local Government 
and Social Care 
Ombudsman Annual 
Report 2020-21 

 

To note the content and recommendations of the 

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman’s 

reports. 

Geoff 

Kent 

Customer 

Services 
Y       

Extension of current 

contract for the 

Processing and 

Treatment of Waste 

Wood 

To seek comments to inform the Executive 
decision in relation to extending the current 
contract for the processing and treatment of wood 
waste arising from the Household Waste Recycling 
Centres beyond March 2022 
 

Graeme 

Kane 

Place & 

Economy 
Y       

Forward Plan for 

Executive 

To receive the Forward Plan for Executive  Lisa 

Hyde 

Transformation N       

Levelling-up of 

Garden Waste 

Collections 

To consider and make recommendations to the 

Executive in respect of garden waste collections 
George 

Candler 

Place & 

Economy 
N       

Parking 

Enforcement/Strategy 

To receive information on the current situation 

regarding parking enforcement and future parking 

strategy in North Northamptonshire 

George 

Candler 

Place & 

Economy 
N       

P
age 136



Decision/Item Summary of Item Report 

Author 

Department  

 

Exempt 

Item 

0
1
 N

o
v
 2

0
2

1
 

2
2
 N

o
v
 2

0
2

1
 

1
7
 J

a
n

 2
0

2
2
 

2
8
 F

e
b

 2
0

2
2
 

2
1
 M

a
r 

2
0
2

2
 

1
2
 M

a
y
 2

0
2

2
 

Dumped Vehicle 

Strategy 

To receive an update on the current strategy for 

the removal of dumped vehicles 

George 

Candler 

Place & 

Economy 
N       

 

P
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Meeting Held on 27th September 2021
	Minutes

	5 Food Safety Service Plan 2021-23
	5. Appx A - Food Safety Service Plan
	5. Appx B - Food and Feed Plan 2021-23
	5. Appx C - Food Work Plan 2021-2022

	6 Dry Waste Recycling Contract
	7 Waste, Recycling and Street Cleansing Policies
	7. Appx A - Waste & Recycling Policy
	7. Appx B - NNC Street Cleansing Policy

	8 Procurement of Catering Services at Corby East Midlands International Pool
	8. Appx 1 - Purchasing Gateway Report

	9 Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Report 2020-21
	10 Extension to Wood Waste Contract
	11 Executive Forward Plan and Panel Work Programme
	Plan
	EAP Service Delivery - Forward Plan


